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The People Court of fGeneral Sessions, Part T,
rS.
Gay W. ToSter.

Eefore Recorder Smyth.
Feabruary 8, 13887,
Indietment for grand larceny in the first degree,

Asst. DJist, Atty. Purdvy For the People.

dessrs, Hughes and M..‘;aa\‘._f_‘or the People,

A Jury was empannelled and Sworn.

Joseph Del.ong sworn and examined by Mr Purdy.

Qe | Where do you reside, ur Del-onu.

A.

Q.

4.

Near Bowers, Pa.

What 1is vour business.

#i}lling business.

70 you helony to a firm there,

Yes sir,

"What is the firn.

Grimm & Delong..

TLook at that letter ur DeLong and say if yvour firy receidy-

ed that letter. (Letter shown to witness.)

/

Yes sir, it is the first one we got.

You received this letter did Yy ou.

Letter marked A for identification.
‘fow did you receive it, by mail,
Received it by mail.

Received 1t by mail at your place of busziness in Penp- .

ylvania.

Yes sir.

fdy} Q. MDid you Teply to that let ter.

Yes sir.

To whom did you direct your reply

et R P

ol e e
. e




A.ffWhy to Mr 7Foster, 1 believe.

the court. Q. How t1d you forward that letter that you wrote,

by mail,
By mail.
“rom Pennsylvahia to New Vork.
Yes sir,
“4r Dﬁrdy. Ue Did vou send anyY Sampnles ,

4, Yes sir,

£y the court. Q. That letter is dateq July, 1833, have you kepnt

ATy e - B AL .

a éopy of the letter YO 1 wrote.

No sir.
Whern did you receive this letter of the Sthoof tuly,
1386,
That T eannot tell,
Was 1t in July,
Yes sir.
How soourn after Sending this letter did you reeeive g
letter in reply, how soon did Yyou answer it,
A, Well, in a couple of days or a week.
By #r Purdy. 9. That is when you sent Samples of rflour.
A.  Yes sir,
Qe And in reply to that letter di- you get this letter, was

that the letter You received in reply? Tetter shiown. )

A, Yes sir.

R S T
PR e e e L, ..
— A ar . . - et T
T e~ v v . _ . o e

The Conrt: T mark that R for identification, July 224, 1 8,

T T Ty

Ry ur Durdy. Q. "hat did you do then MT o Delony  ship any gocds,
| -
Al Yes sir.
What did you do then after von g0t this letter.

Well then we Sent a car-load of flour,

Q. You sent a ear load of flour to whom, to the




v

‘writer of that letter in New vVork.
|

ves sir.

T I T Y Y T B O Y R T e s, pgee ]

-

Did you ship it in Pennsylvania,

— Ay

Yes sir.
What way did you ship it, by railroad.

Yes sir, by railroad.

i — e AT

T .

LRI R
T ——

By 4r Purdy. Q. How maay barrels of flour.

A, One hundred and thirty barrels.

e o

N. What was the flour a barrel.

b e b T T e B

3%, 20 a barrel.

R s

Then what did you do.
Wwell, then we sent on a sight draft,
A sight draft drawn on Joster.
Yes sir, we sent it to our bark.
Court. Q. You sent a sight draft.
Yes sir.
Well, te what bank.
To the Pirst National Bank of Reading.
And after youmhad sSent the draft did you receive that
 letter. (Tetter shown. )
A.:': Yes sir,
The “ourt: That is marked Exhibit 0 for identiTication, August
7, 1336,
By Mv Purdy. Q. Now XT Delonz what 4id vou next do.
4 Next we received an answer.

After you got this letter.

Yes sir, our draft came back unpaid.

That dil vou do.
Well, thea T cape on to *ew York.

You came on to New Vork.:




Yes sir.

Where did you go after yoiu got here to “ew Vork.

I went to Toster’'s office.

YThere,
42 Eroadway.

And did you see Tostor.

Yes sir,

Now tell the Jury what took vlace between vou and 7oster

T Ty

‘when you got there.
Yes Sir, 1 had scern 7?oSter.

sourt. Q. "hern you .came to New vork vou went to 7oster’s

L e T § PRV e v

office at 42 Eroadway, is that right.

YTes Sir.

R o —mee

you see a man of the name of Woster there,
Yes sSir,
Is that the man. (Pointing to the prisoner., )
Yes sir.,
Yo saw him,
Yes sir.
Did yon have a conversation with him.

Yes sir, we talxed the matter over.

e s b et e SN
#I TN ey

ey e

Tell the Jury what you said to Troster and what

to you.

- .
s T

I got in his office i the morning, Saturday akbout ten
o’'cloek, T can’t take particular notice, T asked him

whether he is Wr moster and he said, yes, and T told him

HI camne ¥ here to see about that car load of flour that

]we had sent, that our draft came back unpaid and so 1 ecame

I
| : ‘
jon tc see how ke weuld ©ix the matter; and then he told ine

that. T should g ve hin &z the bill and the bill of lading'




h
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By the Court. Q. Give him what Lill, the bill of the fl our,
|

| -

!

A.g The bill of the flour.

Q.% And the bill or lading.

A, Yes Sir, or T should sen- it by mail and T tol 4 kim 1 hadg

~the bill and the bill of lading with me: then he wanted me

Fto show it to him and T gave him the bill auydi the bill of
ilading. Then he said, “now vyou come in in the after—
‘noon and T will have the draft ready”, and T asked him on
~what draft he is going to give me?® e told me oNn the partv
to whieh he was going to sell the flour. Se T went off

in the forenvon and came baek in the aTternoon between the

T T T T TR g PP e T T s grg s R -
o =

hours of one ani threes sometime and then he had the draft
ready, and T did not know anything of this transaction,
Q. That transuaction, you got back between one and three

o’¢clock,

Ves sir,

Just, tell us what took place between one and three
o’clock, d4id you see woster again. -

Yes sir,

Well now, what was said and done.

Hle had the draft ready and 1 did not xnow whretker this
draft was right or whether —--

Did he show you a draft.

Yes sir., )

Is that the draft he showed YO u. Mract shown. )

Yes sir.

70 on, what then, wher he showed you that draft, what diAqg

he savy.

A.ﬁ Why, he said T should take that draft home to our ba nk
fl
{and get the money for it, and T told him tkat I would not

know whether that draft would be good or whether it would
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ibe all right or anvthing of that kind.

Qe [ "hat did he say to that.

A. EBecause 1 did not know that, 1 was not acquainted in that

business and 7T thought he could take that dra®t and take

1t to the bank andgive me United States money.

l
1

e " Qlve vou cash.

A.f Yes sir, but he said that he couli not do that, that 1

fmruld take 1t to the bank and getthe money for it.

el 1,

'so T studied a while and we talke] the matter over,.
Qe . Fhat was said, what 4did X 1 Say and what did he say.
A. FHe said, you are all right

anl he showed me another cosy

the same as that whiceh he was woing to Xeep when this one
might get lost then T

would zet ancther one. So T took

the draft and went orffr,

Ey Mr Burdy.a. 2id you tell him that you were “Ir Delong of f4rimm
& Delong and that you vere the gentlermen who shipped him

the flour,

A Yes sir,

Qe Jid you mention the amnount of flour.

A Yes sir,

Q. How muech did you tell him the Flour was.

A. One hundred and thirtv barrels.

Q. 71d you speak of the Araft you had draw:, o

A, Yes sir.,

Qe Which had gone to protest.

A, Yes sir, the one which we had sent ori.
By the ZJourt. a. You toldg him it was not paid,

Yes sir,

dJarX the drart Exhibit » fror identification.

Now 1 of fer these three letters in evide:ce and T will
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ﬁread Pevples Exhibits I,2 and 3. Fe read the draft
~Peoples Exhihit Yo. 4.
By Mr Purdy. Q. You received this drafth in the afternoon.

4, Yes sir.

Qe What did you do with the draft,

A e e = vu e T TV PO P s

=t 2

A. T kept thke drarft till next mor ning.

i

SWtra

Q; What did you do with it the next morning.

A. I staid with r nel.onw in‘Williamsbnrgh that night,

Q. What did you do with the dfaft,

A. Well, the next morning T told him about that.
Gourt. Q. Told him about whkat.

‘A. About the drart.
Mo Purdy. 2. "hat did you do with the draft.
A. We went to see [r Tarrell, he is with EugensKelly 2 no.
Mro Delong told me he knows him well,
Where did you go to.
T lsft the draft with u¥r ®arrell and he took it to Eugene
Kelly & Co. andl went home that day.
Sourt. Q4 There did you find this man whr Tarrell, was he in
Euvgene Xelly & co.'s place,
No, that morning he was in his home, he lives in williagms-~
bturgh.

You tock the draft to him .

s e L T T
R S g T S LT T e

Yes sir, | left the draft with him and he took it to
Eugene Kelly & 7o., he is with Fugene Kelly & no,.
Ly Mr o Purdy. Q. What is yr FParrell’s business.

A/ He is with Eugene XKelly & co.

"By thé sourt. Q. Do you kpow that, did you go to Kelly’s a?terwardS;

5 te find out if warrelil was there,
I
|

A.l Yes sir, T found him there,

.
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Q,; After you gave the Jraft to Tarrell you went houe.

A. Yes sir, T went home.

Attt it B AR o AL R L e

R. After you gave this draft to Tarrell what did von do then

A, T left it with hing for collection, he took it to Eugene
Kelly & Go. for eollection.
Bv yr Purdy. Q. nDi you g¢ home.

b

A. Yes sir, J went hieme.

Re How long after you went home 11d you come hack.
“Yhen T got a letter.
Where did you .go arter you came haek to Vew York.
I went to see vipr NeYong.
Did you go to Kelly’s office.
sir,

you see

sivr, he went along with ne, to Xelly’s,
yOi See this draft there.

Yes sir.

What did you do wi th the draft then.

I came up to ses the District Attorney’
You saw ine.

Yes sir.,

What did you do.

You told us ~—-

You sent the draft to England for colleetion,

Yes sir.

- Did you see it wher, he came baek.

. Yes, wher, T eame

H

up here to yvour of fice,.

?Where did you get the draft,

s/

\_1'"-

At vour office,

)

ERTRR T T

i
L
I TTho dil yomu get it from..

- - Ll
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A. | When the draft came baek ‘rom Londorn it was sent out

R ARG ar s L,

=
N

‘throngh Eugene Kelly 2 no. =

ow 10 you know that,
That is what T was told.
When did you see the driaft the next time.
When 1 came over, the tay we had arrested “oster,
Then yon saw the laaft,
Yes sir,.

Qe In whose hands 411 yon see it.

A. "Why, down in the Distriet Attorney’s office.

Qe In Netective Shel.lon’s hands,

A, NO Sir,

By the.%ourt. 2. 9id you ever get vour flour pbaek.

A, Xo.

Ry ¥Mr Purdy.o. Did ever get any money héek.
A, No sir,

Tourt ad journed,

1337,

Wednesday, Tehruary 9,
M Hughes: Ve move to strike out all the testimony of 4Mr Delong
which refors to the conversation he had with ur Tarrell
relative to what beecame of tte draft,
The Court: I deny it.

Mr Hughes: Not e an excention,

William H. warrell Sworn and exarined.
By Mr Purdy . Q. Ur farrell, what is your business,
Ao “ Banker, sir.
Qe And with what firm,

f The fivy of Fugene Kelly & no. New York.

JO vyou know the 1ast witness, r Net.orne.

T
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Is he a ceustouer of your ba nk.

-

:I«:‘ot usSually, this s t)l e first transacti on, Toreign
transacetion, as T unde rstand it.
;Look at that draft, -id you recelve that draft “rou
i:é. (Mraft skrcown. ).
Yes sir,
“hat AiAd yaur 4o with 1t,
Sent it to Youdon for col lecection,
Did fou receive it back .
e did, with the following afijavit.
Vith that paper attached to it,
Yes sSir,
And in the ecniition that it now i1s, the draft,
And in the a ndition that it now 13 1 believe, There
is an affidavit on the beek certified by the Ameriean
Jonsul, ves sir,
Mr Purdy: Now 1T offer the draft and the arridavit attached in
gvli.dence,
Counsel: e object to the adim ssion of the arfidavit,
Ey t he f}‘oﬁrt. a, You are a pjenhar of the Tirm or Eugen=z Kelly 270,
and they are bankers in. the city of New vork,
Yes sir.
Q. And T understand you the ccmplainant in this case bro-.ight
you thatdfaft which has Just been shown you.
A,

Tith the request that you should collact it through yo ur

| Through our house,

-

You did fcrward it in the « ndition in whieh it now 1is

TR
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'i .
jaénd 1t has been returned to vou.
g

T

A. 1 And it has been vreturnced to u .

Q. | Eugens Kelly & Go. did not get the proceeds of that drarft,

T ATy e

A. Not at all.

L

ey

By udr Pirurdy. 2. You did this in the usual eourse of banking.

A« In the usual course of banking.

TR e Py S o

M Purdﬁ: T do not offer the affidavit as an affidavit but as g

fact that this Baper came baek with tle draft, thewe- word

came back as part of the --

FRETCUTIENY AR e r ey

The Court: Iet me lock at it.’

Mro Purdy: The same as if ap endorsSemeat was on the back of the

draft with the words no good, or anvything of that kind,

R i s e T et

The Zourt: 7This affidavit is proof of the presentation of this

draft, what occurred at the tiine of the sresentation; it
1s nct a protest, it might POSsibly te evidence if it was
a regular prptest,

the Jourt. Qs This draft was returned dishonored, unpaiﬁ, that

'1s atout the subs tarice of it.

[T

A. Could rot find the pDarty,

RS A e

Charles 1w, Viekery sworn and exa.ined,

- T

e

T Purdy. @, ur Vickery, where do yYou reside,
A« Atica, New York.
Qe What is wvour business,
As  Milling.
Q.f What is your firm
“ Stedinan & vVie Kervy.

j Will you look at that letter ani Say whether wn received

:II
-ﬁhat letter on or about the t me it bears date,

|
|
I

Yes sir, T did.
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The Cournt: “ark it Exhirit E for identifiecation Tebruary 10,18%5
| | .

Ey Wr P@r@r. Qe D1d you reply to that letter by mail,

A

s e B AT e T I T R T T T e ATy s

By the Jourt. 2 . Yo received that by mail 1 presume and renlied
7 - : :
to 1t by mail,.

A. ' Yes sir,
Mr Dﬁrdy. Q@  And will you look at that letter and sav if orn or
_ﬁbout the time it bears date you received it lanother
letter shown).

Ves SsSir.

Court, 3 What is the

Dl  Labh L T T P I

Wiareh 4,

Letter marked +, march t, 1389.
How dil you receive it, by mail.
Ev mail, ves sir.
v Purdy. 4. In ecnseyuence of that letter what diz you do.
Objected to. Objeetzon overruled, Exception.
A, .We shinzed him a car of flowr,

Sourt. 2 Shipned who.

e

LT T Easiatas £ ¥ T
; . B i T
. e e g .

A, . M, WOoster & CO,
Qe Where, at what vlace.
A. New York.
AT Purdy. . Ey what railroad.
A, The Brie Railroad.
Connsel: Mill your Yonor hear the grounds Tor our objection?

I
By the ff:li;-urt. Qe HOW many barrels

A. ' Ninety-five barvels of flour,

Q. What price ser barrel.

Ly

#4. 50 and $4. 00
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oW manyat four dollars.

A.ﬁ T have got the bhill,

By MrPurdv. . Can you refreshyourselr by lookuing

(Bill shown. )

e R T T IR I et

—

Ay Pifty-five barrels at 34, 50.

LU P

Gourt. Q. And tlre bhalarnce.

T T

Porty barrels at 3$4.00 and thirty barrels or gramlat ed

LS

T

ineal,
You must have shioped .gore.
No, that was in tris cae of ninety-five rtarpels,

You told us wvou shinped ninety~_Cive bharrels of flour,

AT T TN T ey e A AT L e

e TR

VYes sir. .

You also shippedmeal did you.

Yes sir, with these ninety-=ive barrels.

Tow 1aany barrels.

Thirty barrels,

You shinced thirtv barrels of mneal at how much a barrel,
82.50.

What did yon do after vou had shipped the

We drew on them a Sight draft one dav.

Ey the Court., 9. On him you meant.
A%, a. . mester & nog.
You drew a draft for the whole amount,
For the whole amount, yes sir.
At sight. |
At sight, one day’s sight.

By Mr Pﬁrdy. Q. After that did you receive this latter. fLetter

"showri, )

-

By the ?omrt. Q. Mhat becaﬂﬁ Of the draft yenu drew Oorn: him, what

[P - :
Fdld you do after drawing the draft, 4id you present it.




A. - We took it to our bank and they forwarded it.

Al

Qe . You put it in your hank Ffor collection, i3 that

A, Yes sir,

0. What bank.
A, James H. Tumis Sons bank, Attica.

Mr. Purdy. Q. And then what becames of the draft afterwards,

L. NEE o - ”
o, " o
. .
-._1._...n._.‘.'_'.‘.-.::n-.—:..m..m.-—.—_r«rsz-w’-*'?’-‘:':’?z!!‘-"ﬁ'}"". A e a0 o ":mﬁ.i.ﬂ“wm‘wm

you receive it bacl.

e A

We received it hack,

Protested,

e gty Ay b

Unpaid.

Aad aftece that 4did von receive. that letter. flett er shown

" T e s e T P, TN

I think there is another letter in pl;ce of that,
Look at that letter and see if that is the letter. (A~
bther letter shown, )
Ves sfr, this is the letter.
Jourt. 1 "hat is the date of that.
darceh 22, 1533, (Marked G, Mareh 22
You received it by mail,
A, Ves sir.
e Purdy., q. And was anything with that letter,
4. Thers was a draft for a hundred pounds, sterling.
Me Look at that draft and s -ee if that is the draft. (Mraft,
shown., )
A, Yes gir,
By the JSourt. Q. That draft 1 SHODOSEe Yas enclosed in a letter,

A.’fEnclosed in a letter, yes sir,

] ;
By Mr Pu#dy. Qe "What dil vou do with the draft,

A. Ve took it to our bank for ecollectior. (The draft was

marked H, )
j i
il L
By the u?urt Q. You put it in the same bank.

|
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sir.

Was the draft returned to vou.

Yyes sir.

You put it in vour bank for collection,

et ot s T it il A Aty 0 P 0
b

Yes sir,
It was retu-ned unpaid T sSuppose.
Unpaid.

By Mr ®» rdy. Q. In the eondition it is now.

A. Tn the «andition it is powr,

Qe After yon hal received this letter and after ywu had e~
posited the dvraft in the bank and it had gone on its way,
what did yoa then do.

Ey the Court. a, "id you do anything between the time that you pus
this last draft iy your own bamk for collection at Attica,

Ae Nothing in regard to this dratt,

0 Did you receive any letter from th$s man between the time
you put that in the bank and the tine that yon were ine
formed by the bank that it was unpaid,

A, Yes sir,

By Mr Purdy. o, "hat d4idq you do,

As Well sir, we received a letter from ~--

Qe TLook at that and sav what you did, (Tetter 4 shown. )

I am not asSkKins wu anything atout the draft, what did
you do, that draft is in the bank on its way to 7"rance.

A. We shivped him another car of flour.

Q.: How mich was in that car load ofxaflour.

A. One bundred and twenty~five barrels.

By the Court. q. Whern wa s it shioped about.

A.; About April 2nd, I think, fron the first to the second,
%Somewhere alony the first of Afril.
i

|
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How much flour was there.

One hundred and twenty-five barrel s,

About the first of April vou think,

Somewhere froa the first to the second.

Did vou hear anything from them after you shipped this

—y

rlour, did you get any letter acknowledging the receipt,
A.? We drew on then through the bank.
By Mr Purdy. 2. Wkat kin? e a draft.
A. A sight draft.
Q. After vou had drawn it what became o thut draft,
A, Tt was returred to us,
by the ZJourt. 2. Yonu put it in your bank for collection the same
as the other.
A. Yes sir, and returre d the same as the ot her,
By Mr Purdy., Q. And 4id you themr recelive that letter, (Tet ter
show 0,
A. Yes sir,
The Zonrt: ‘ark it Fxhibit 1 for identification, April 125
Ey Mr Purd; . Q. What was with that letter
There was a iraft the S M€ ¢ trhe cre in the first,
The sames as that draft,
Tes siv, the sane as that draft.
What did you do with that,
We returned that draft tc G ™, woster & 7 Q.

Re You did not put it inp yeur bank for collection,

b oiq YEM FeTATn it by wail with the letter,

A. _' Ye s Si]".

By wr PWrdV Q. And did vou write to him,

A, h ves sir.,

|
|




Q. What did you say in the letter.

i . . C ‘- - :s: .‘.‘. . X ":. o

Re bl ey R T R T T - - T '
A -'.‘_ : - T o ' . i . ..
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A, jWe told him that we did not want any more foreign drafts,

we wanted T'nited States monev.

2 Then did you write again to him, did vou receive any reoplv

teen re v e AT T A T W AT Y
ER T

to that letter,
A, ,- Yes sir.
e Nirl yonu reply again to himn,
NO answer,
the Court. Q. Have yon got the replv.
No answer.
Mr furdy. Q. Do you recollect the date of theletter in which
vou enclosedhim the dAraft.
A. Ne, T do not recollect the date.
Q. You got a letter froa the defendant eontaining
another draft about the 12tk of April,
A, Yes stir.

Ey Mr Purdyv. Q. See by looking at that letter if yoa can refresh
your meirory Lo see what was the date of sending the draft
back,

A, This letter we received after returning that draft,

By the 7Zourt. Q. Mhat is the date of that.

A. April 27,

BEv 4r Purdy. @ Rut do youn see that there is an allusion to the

N

——

letter of the 1I61th,

ey
.

A, Yes sir.

~

ir Purdy: That letter 1 offer in evidence.

The Cowﬁt: Mark 1t J for identification, April 27, 133G,

LI A

Ey :Hr Pﬁrdy. 2. T will ask vou to look at these two letters and
!
| say whether you rececived these from him in relation to that

LA
e R

business,

v
Yo

.y — =

L " e
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M Purdye I offer those for identification,

h
|

The Court: The first letter is dated Avri 19, I8R33 and marked X

;aud the next letter is daged April 273, 18170 marked J,.
By Mr DQrdy. R Did ycu receive that card at anv time. (Card shown)
A.? Yes sir.
Q.: When did you receive that card.
A. Mith the first letter,
A Purdy: T offer the card for identification,
The Conrt: arked M.
By Yr Purdv. n. Have yon ever received auy payfor your {four, for

the two ezarloads off flour.

A. No sir.

Fal

By the ourt Q. The cavrl cae with the first letter,
A. Yes sir,

Jounseal: T inove that this testimmony be exeluded, it having no
bearing on this case whatever.

The Jouct: ¥e has not offered those papers vet -- there are ornly
marked for identification,

Counsel: I move tc exclude the testimony of this iwtness; it has
no dirget conneetion witk this ecase whatever,

MU Purdy: T shall conneet 1t,

Counsel: He asked him if he had ever reécelived pay for this Flonr,

The Zonrt: Tt may be competent; the Distriet Attornevy capnot try
his case addng all together,

Oross Examined.

Ky Oounszs‘;;-l. . T show vou g Paper, state whether yoy Sent that to

I;jlt.he “irmm of G W, woster & 70.

f
A, Yes sir,

The Cowunlt Mlarked NYerfendant's Exhibit NoJ T Tor identification.

18
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You testified in reSponse to a certain letter irn which

&ou returned the Jdraft to yr Toster you told him vou did
hot want any of that kinl! of rnoney, you wanted T'nited
States money, is that correct,

Yes sir.

“

I show vou this letter, state whetker that is the letter
you referred to. d
A ¥Yes sir, that is thre letter.
Mark e ﬁe?endanc’s Exhibit %No.2 for identification,
?
Q. I show yom/adother letter, vonu identify that as a letter
you sent to Mr Toster,
4, Yes sir,
HMarsed Nefendant’s Exhibit 3 for ilent iTication,
The Zourt: Mine papers shown to the witness,
ﬁ; Counsel q. Exanine those and see ir they are papers trkat you
caused fto be seny to . Poster.
By the rfourt. 2. Are those letters and statements that Yyou Sent
to Toster, B
A.  Ves sir.
And T presume are the letters and statements referred to
By vyou on your direet examination,
A, Yes sir,
The Zourt: Those ninre papers are marked No, 4,

Mro Purdy . Now T ofrer gll thaese in eviderce,

Counsek. Cetainly we object,

ir Purdg; They are prodiced 28 Dariy of the corresgondence by
Foster aund the complainant and 1 OFfer then as connected

i . : : . o
wiLth the transaction, the witness W@ving testified that

he wrote than to him and he produces the here in court,
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Q. Are those the pavers referred to by you on wur

direct exmA1ndt10n as letters and statements sent by vou

ln resgonSe to conmunicaticons by letter received "rom the

defendant.

, .
Lttt L 1 B PR B Y e A TR

Yes sir.
In reference o the transactions referred to bv you on

your direet examination in “espegt to tlre shipment of this

g s
A - -

-

fflour.

- '
LE NS

Yes sir.

End the drafts that you hare mentioned,

R —..-.!va_-:'rﬂ'u\‘"":

A. Yes sir.
The Jourt: T think they are evide nce.
Counsel: W¢ do not objeet to those going in.
The Zourt: Those nine pavers T urderstand he of fers,
HAr Pardy: T offer the nine and t e other three,
The Zonart: You offer twelve papers?
M Purdy . Twelve papers ~--pine of them will be marked Peoples’
Extiblit No. 4.
The ?ourf: T admit then 25 paners sroduced by the Yefeniant.
Counsel: Those letters are offered for itdentification pending the
ofTer by the NDistrict Attorney of letiers produced by him.
e object to them going in at the present time; we also
reserve our right to cross-examine this witness as re-
gards those other letters that went in.
The “onrt: T consider you as having reserved your rights. T will
admit the paper on the ground thut the paper produced by
#you and marked ror identification: if the Nistrict Attornev

ll

ichooses to put them in they are evidence that he pits 1ir,

not evidence that you put in. On motion of the Nistrie™*

Attorney the Defendant’s exhibits from I to 9 are ad~-

mltted.
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Mr Purdy: WNow T offer the letters written by this witness whiech

hare heretofore been o~fered for identification ~-~ T mean

the letters written by the defendant to him,

. .
T L T e ST I M v, w e I Y ey AT

sy
[}

The Jourt: You have gt 1n the letters written by this nman to the

N L

defendant and now vou PrcposSe to cffer the letters written

e S

R i
)

by the defendant to this witness
bt

y v
LAt

- ore, -
T

By the Zourt. q i you have suy comnrersations with this man at

LT
LA

- -
- LY
— | —

all,

NO sir, npever.

TN N e

-

Never had any econversation,

Vo

I"!O Sil‘.

e

"here were those letters thwt You have spokern of directed

e LIV R

P —

to, were they directed to any particualar place, there was

& card in the first letter, do you recollect, that.
VYes sir,
To whon were those lettors Sent, to the address on that
card,
To the place mentionsl on that card, that was the first,

Did yoil write those lett Lers, those nine capers there ir

answer % 24 % 5 that vou received.

That we received Trou 7Toster.,

Henry Hartman swoen and €Exa.nined.
By ¥y Papedy, a, Mgt is your busine ss, JIr QZartian.
A.  Tawyer.
Ani whe» e is your place of business,
145 Broadway.
D¢ you know the derendant Toster.

Yes sir.

This last witness on the Stand, Y Xickery, 4o you krow




|
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E

;i. him.
A. Yes s$r.
Wher, did you Q%St see "Toster,
T think alticut the 23%th of April, somewheres there, the
latter part ¢f April,

Where did you see him.

TR e e A TR AT S e

TN gy

e .

I think it was Yo. 20 “ulton Street, that is I know it was

T Mpe s

on the corner of ?ulten Street and oune of those lowver

Streets, Mater or “ront.

Court. Q. Was his place of business there, ur Aartinan,

e e e A L IR

Yes sir,

N

What was his busirness,

[ S—

J. W, Toster & To. commission wmerchants.

That was the sign.
Yes sir, something to that efcect, T conld not sav ex-
actly.

Q. Did yon see the defandant there.

A. T did not sir, trhe fFirst day 1T called,

By #Hr Purdy. o, “hen did you €all next .

A. T called a day or so ater and saw My Toster, he was on
the third floor 1 believe whern I called and one of the
youug men went out a er him and T had s conversation, he
on topr of the stairs and T at .the bottom, T told himm T had
a c¢laim against hin: from Stelunan & Viekery whieh § wished

~te collect,

Jounsel’ Objected to on the ground that it is imnaterial,

The Court: Objaction overruled.

]
Ev the Court. Q. vou had a elaim agalinst hkim,
il
i
A Tor Stedman & Vickery whieh I wishad to collect. will T

State all the conversation?




s o A T PP a——
B A nk -

srgTTE
_-——-"’"-“-

s S

—

B

Bt}

T

T

Y AT
'.-"f‘“‘“

AT .,_:!.“":\,' ‘-.;'-.;n

Q.  Yes sir.
A.f Yell, T told hiwm that it was a elaim of 3539,75 which ac-
cording to the account T had was the balance and T wanted

to colleet it, He said that he had Sent a draft to

Stedisan 4 Vickery covering that amount and that that draft

had not vet been returned, I presume 1T must have spoken

o

ratter sharply to ir “oster because he said he was not to

be bulldozed.

By Mr Purdy. Q. What el se.

A. And he insisted that that draft had not beern returnad to

Y

him and that until it was he could not talk business to

ne,
What did you do then®
T lefv him.
Wher did you next see him,

T think it was about June 28, scunewhsere thoere abouts,

Where did you see hin then,
At 40 and 42 Froadway,

What was that there No. 40 and 42 Rroadway.

That was to iay mind s banker and hroker’s o~fice to all

apfearance, T saw a great many things, wood engraving
going on, circulars being sent out, emvelopes being ad-

dressed, it seemed to be quite a ramification there.
Q. Quite g tustling business,

A. Y’es Sir.

Nid you have anything with you. .

i,
|

I want to say that 7 hadl called there Seéveral times and
each tine Yr Toster was out and finally T found him there
one morning; Py that time this draft ——-

You had a conversation with him,
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A.. Yes sir,

Mr purdy. Q. Ry looking at these papers canyou say that that

was the Aract.

B R YA AL LI R e 4y Lo b AP Tt B

Yes sir, that is the Adraft.

Whkat conversatiocn did you have with him touching that

draft,

T told him trhat the +raft for the

last lot o7 Plour that

had beer, sent to him—--

By whormn,

L

By Stedman & Vickery had been returned; that is 1y peneil

memcrandvnr: on there, the day that I ealled to see him ad

that to all appearances thlhat dralft was endorsed by 6. w

I - Yo

“oSter & Do, and 1 wanted to know if that was his eplorse-
ment. He said that he would nct say whetﬁer i1t was or
not, he wculd have pothing at all to sav about it. T talk-
ed to Mr Toster as 1 talked to people hefore.

What d4id'you sav to him,
Ao That T thought it would be wise For him to settle that

matter, that it looked ratrer erooked and that 71 believed

he did not intend to pay but it would be to his interest

te do sc. A7ter some little conversation Ir woster said

he would have nothine at all to say about the draft, he
{

wonld net say whether that was his endorsement or not and

thut T had better see his “ounsel, T asked him who they

were; he sSald Goldfogle & Cohern. T asked hiin Ffor one, of

ﬁtheir carids and he managed to Tish one ont of his vest

pocket and gave it to me and T went out.

21d you see %oli7ogle & 7ohen,

I went to their office and saw Wr. gohen, T told »Mr <ohen

that T had been referred to him by ir @oster, that 7Toster
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ﬁwould not give me any satisfaction abont that draft, that

T wanted the cney 1in some way and that 1 presumed T had

been referred to him to get a settlement of it. ¥e said,
he knew nothing about it, he seldom Saw Ir Toster, the
:Firsttime he saw hiwn he would et talk to him about it,
and T told Mr gohen in substance what T told 1Ir “oster,
that T thcught that thing had better he settled, that if
not T was a€raid T wonld have instrunetions fron iy elient
to proceed against Toster in any way T thought fit bv ar-
rest or otherwise, UYe thern SaysS, 1f you have enough to
Send Poster to State Prison yeu had better gc¢ ahead: T
told him that was a matter that T wouldhave to look to.

D1id you bring an aetiocn against Toster,

The action that was brouzht against him was before that
cn the second lot of flour, amcunting to 579,75 and be-
fore T got the draft back Fron Paris,
21d you serve s swnnons and complaint.

A Yes sir, served a sianons.
By the Zourt. Q. "at was the amount of that action.
A, #5739,75, folifogle & Cohen entered ar appearance, we
Served the complaint about May 20 somewheres there abcut,
T do not reusanher 10w which,
Ey #r Pyurdy.n., "Did youa get an answer,
A No.
Entered judgment.
e did.

Qs Exeeution.

"

ﬂyf~HA.ﬁ 7255 e L Returned nullia bona,

g
1

Mr PUPQT: Your Honor 1 offer the letters written by “ar VieKery

S

having eonnected them with Ir "oster,
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Poun%elE We objecet to these letters orn

|

the ground t} at they are

t

‘not connected with this transaction now on trial

The ?ovft: The Nistriet Attorney now offers the letters marked

. ' ’ . . .
for 1dentifs ecation referred to in the testimony ¢~ rhliarles

H. Vickery :narked from E to N inelusive, T will admit them

anl give you an exceptiorn,

I objeet to the admission Gf those letters on the gr ound

that tlhey are lutnaterial and irrelevant to this 1ssue and

L e v e T

incunpetent.

e

The Zonurt: That are admitted for the pursose, not o° establish-

——

ins that the de “endant comnitted the tarceny alleged in

this indictment but they are admitted “or the purnose of

enabling the Jury to deteraine whether the intention of

this s at the ti me that he received the goods, the suh-

Jecet ¢f this 2rosecution, ohtained possession of thein,

whether he received them with & gUuilty and felonpicus in-

tent. This evidence is admatted or, that ground and on no

Ot}‘nel".
Note our exception,
Oross Exariined,

By #r Hughes. q. Ar HMartman you say that when you called npon Yr

RFoster you thought trat it looked siyspicious hecause hisg

haiae was con the bacek of the Paper, didn’'t you.

A

A, The last call, 7 1id not say that,

e It locked ercoked to you, that was the wori.

A«: Mo, you had better have the Stenographer read what T

. Sgid,

a At that time had you made

Ay effert to “ind the naker of

: that draft,

No.
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By the Zourt. 7 “Yhat were your 1nstrucetions frgy Stedidarn *

Q.ﬁ Never had,
A I had no instrucetions to do that, 1 was ncot goiny
;arrand of that kind.
By the dourt. Ne You did not heyond the mere Pact of
A ' No, my business was with g, w, foster & No.
Ey Coun#el. . The claimwas sent to you by Viekery & “tedmar for

colleetion, was it not.

A Yes sir.

Jid they gire you anv Spacial instraetion as to how Y ou
were to colleet that or against who in Darticecular,

A. "ell, ves, my business was with . V. Toster ® no. the

‘.

clalln was sent to me.

Ticke

in referenle te this eall that you made upon Toster.

Ae My instruetions were to call Hpon 3. ™, Zoster &

0. arnd

colleet the mwnev trat that garaft called for.

By Counsel. q “™ere those ilnstructions in writing,

A. It was in the nature of a letter to ne.
AUe  Have you gobt that letter,

T think T }-.a'~fe.

I wish you to prodice it.

Mere 18 the letter forodueing it),

Havin"g refreshed your reccl lection Trom that letter are

you still willing to say that thev sy-re you any special

dAnstruetions as to how you should proceed to colleect that

lor froa whooa

1

1t was to be collerted 1Y partieular.

A,

J “ell, v Hughes, 1 do net know if T may be allowed to
!
]

|
|
[ . - .
]explaln, that 1t is ysual for a

client to tell hKhis attornev

to go and see John Smith Specifically,
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W« You made no effort to collect the oroceeds CF this draft
or the value of trat draft Srom the maker.

A You understarnd that as well a8 1T do, 1 :41id not g0 t¢ the

hl&iker.

Can ven sStute to the Jury whether yoi erer made any e -

find the muker of that drart, T, Buek,

No sir, 1 diinot.

hever examnined the merchantile averncies to ascertairn

rate, A. No sir,

M Roster is the onlv verson von ever applied to Por pa y-

Lent asitde fron his attornev,
A The .only one, sir,

The Zaonurt: This apnears to huve beer drawn by somebodv on

Mro Purdvy: ves, we have never knowrn any T ruack.

Edward 4. Taylor Sworn aand examined,
MY Purdy. Q. "hagt is your business, ir Tavlor,

A, Eroker,

Qe And with what hounse are vou connected.

I am for wmyself hut T do busirness occasiovnally for

2O,
Fugene Kelly & ng¢, A. Yes sir,

D0 youa kniow r arrell. A. Yes sir, he is & partner in

the house.

Q. DO you recollect having a conversation with pr "arréll in

August, abont August I1 or 12 with regard to a certain

draft givern to yr Del.ong.
i

A. YeS sir,

Qe In consequence or° that conversation did you make any

;investigations aS to the finaneial Standing of the Ne-

endant, Toster.
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Yes Sir.

In consequence of those investigations did you in comnpany

wit}l ¥Mr Parrell gc tc xMr Foster. A. Yes sir,.

42 mroadwvay, third floor-

Where did you1 see hiin, A,

e

unstairs,
Look at that draft and sSee 1f vou and Mr ~arrell had

A
L3 P
’ RRAE SRt o T

that draft with vyou. A. Yes sir .

conversSation between vou, #arvell and the

=Ty
N ,._'["'J:“'.'I'_r?q e

Now State the

relative to that draft. (Exkibit n,)

AL S

Neendant,

I went to the office with ir Tarrell, he asked me if T
woiild take him and st ow him where Jr Toster’s office was,

T went un on the Elevateor and asked the elevator boy to

let us get ¢ff there, T askel the elevator btoy which door
it was and he said, “that door, there”; sc we went in and

as we did T went in anl net somnebody hehind the railing.

I said, “i1s this M¥r “oster’s office®?” He Said, ves.

e
-,

Said T, “camn we See him?”?” “vhat is your business with

Rt s

e

“we have business that T den’t care to

VTR

him%?” Said T,

state kvt T will stute 1t t¢ r Toster, ” He said, “give

[}

me voyr naine. T said, “1 d¢ not think it 135 necessary

AN AP by o

s free John Smith .

L

Y il

to give our nanes, he would not krnow 1
He said, “7T will tell him. 1 said, “yor jusst tell him
s connle of gentédmen want to see him: T do noet know

whether Yr Parrell warsre his nace or not till we zot in.
Rinally after walting five or ten mirmmtes the man came outb
anid said, “go intc the office. ” AS we came in ?oSter,

Mr Tarrell had

-

the Nelendant was sitting at the desk,

that draftt in his hand. T said, “this is ur =~arrell of

said, “Wr =*arrell, yoi1 state

Eugene Kelly & Co.” and then

i
i your business.” r "arrell said, “there is a ce¢lient of

i
|
|
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ours, a tan that had business at our house has got that

draft given on London and we would like the money fFor it. "

A EE R LM R
L TR

e sald, “you send the draft t where it is drawn and yonu

e e ——

[

will get the money. " Then Yr warrell Said, “that is imn-

- .

pessible Tor we have te' egraphed over to the house, Eu-

gene Kelly & Go. to our arents over there and have found

out through them by telegravh that there is no sueh hcyse

to present it to. ” yr Rfoster said, “1 don’t want to be

insulted or bulldozed in this office, 1 have an ofTicer

here, 1 am pretected by law and if venr have nothing to

I
Say yo: had tetter get out or sone words

to that efreet,

PART SN ELL PIE LTS S
. . Lo .
P e AT LR T P & -
—— ax ——— gL o N e o ¥ Y
g TR * B ST e oo LR

somethi o very vpolite. Ir farrell said, “that isall T

have to say, sir, goeod wmerning», and we went out.

Where did von and r Rarrll g0 then.

Then wve went down to Insscector BEyrnes’ office.
Irn ™all Strect.

Yes sir, anl we told ur Fyrnes who we were.,
Ant de you know that Deteetive Serszeant Sheldon was de-

tailed cn the case,

Yes sir.

Did vou w0 to the District Attorney’s office gith Sheldon.

No sir, 1T did not.

do you know what beegmne ¢ the draft, Wl oether that v

Vas

given to Sheldon or ot
NC Q) 3yer,

TTOU3E EBYamine |,

Wt L re Viorre dvties drn Lhe

oo,

I am not in a bank, I am a brokevr, 1 do Eugene Kelly ®

iGo.’s outside busi ness,
'1

At the interview referred to as takXing pluce between ¥r

Farrell, Mr TosSter ard yourselfT, do you renmember rarrell
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representinyg that ven were an officer.

A. No sir, T remnenberc that T did, T am a special deputy

sheriff, 1 said, ¥r =arrell has an officer with him also.

Qe You said that. A. Ves sir,
By Mr Purdy. Q. You werera special deputy sherirrf,
A Yes sir, 1 have got my shield.
By the rt. Q. Sc¢ that each partv had an officer - the Nefendant
Said ke was nnder the nroteetion of the Law,
Yes, then T said, “y5% 7arrell al so has a nrcectector”, T

did net mention who it was: that was the conversation,

Samuiel 3. Sheldon sworn and exanined,

By Mr Purdv. Q. ur Sheldon, voil are a detectire Serveant attachégl
to Inszector Byrnes’s of Pice.,

Yes sir,

D0 you recolleet in gugnust Seeing XMr Tarrell of Eugene

Kelly & no. A. Yes sir,

AR

A,

AT Taylor, did yow see him.

I Adid, on the followirnw day.

IO T 5 S
o

et

BT

Did you receire a Araft “rog Wro farrell,

Yes sir T went and teleuraphed Trom the wall

o

braneh office

Q. TIs that tlx draft, (Draft swhon. )
A. Yes sir,
Bv the %ourt. Q. You recelved that draft Exhibit D "rom ur %arrell

p
of KEugene Kelly & Co., is that it?

i Yes sir.

And that was in August.

Yes sir, about the First Part of Septoember, about the

- fir~st of Septemher.




By Mr Purdyv. aq. Where did you g with it.

A RIS L Y S G A R

A T came

to the Distriet Attorney’s office and seern

vou.

By the Sourt. o "hat did vou next do.

-

A,

. e - A T £ TULTY
.

I went to Jefrferson Market and nused it in evidence in

case made out before Judge Gorinzn.

By Mr Purdy. Q. Do you recolleect coming to me w:th the draft ’

Say was 1t August or September.

A I think abcut the rfirst cF

Septe.nter.

Was that the first interview yonu ever had with e,

Oh, T snoke to you hefore alcout conplaints caning from

G. W, T"0Ster’s vietims, ete.

M e s g o — ik T T

trrough the country that we

received at the office.

I inean abenut this Adraft, ahout instriaetions Lo Sand the

draft tc¢ YLondon.

Yes sir.

That was hefore vyou first of September,

Yes sir,

It was wvhey the draft g0t bhack,

Yes sir, it was all dope abcut the "irst of sSep temb-er,

It tock some tinme to g0 to Yondlon.

It tock twe weeks.

You wailted until the Araft S0t back

Trom Yondon ani when

1t did come Lack the arrvest was

a o

made.

Yes Sir, it was the 127,

or 15tk o7 Teptenler whey we Want

te JelFPersorn Market Scurt.

Qe 211 youn make the arrest cf
A, Yes sir.

Ey the Jourt.q. Whe: did yon arrest hin.

A. Septennbaer 20th, six P, . at his office 42 Lroadwav,
Fy WMr Purdy. . 9id yon find sone papers, what did von find, have
32 !
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you got the bundle of papers that you found there.
Yes sir, there is sone of them, there is a 1ot of 1t hern

hkere, a bundle of then.

Let me look at some samples, T want a sample with a head-

There i3 plenty of thean here. I _.leco.

T do not mean letters t him, 1 mean letter blank hea:dlings

T have got plentvy of them, there is a card and there is

2

&L hill-head-
D1id you1 searceh hiwm. A. Ves sir.
Tock at these papers and say 1f yvoa found any of those

papers on him or all of them.

A ves sSir ‘Papers marked N for identification °

AL

“urdy e Y“ow T rest the case.

“ounsel - TF yonr Yonor blease we will at this Stage of the exam-

ination move to disnmiss on the ground that no ownershino
of this flour has hbeen proven,. on the ground that po faise
pretenses or represcentations have beer shown, on the
ground that the evidence does not sustain the charge as
laidn in t™ e indietment and for the reason that the oo m-
plaining witness here varted with the title apl! with the
possession voluntarily and that he retained no title to

the property either actnal or constructive

The ~“ourt L will let the ~istriet “ttorney call MF ™e"ongyg back

ounsel We objectand take an exeention,

~oseph [ejong recalled by "™ Turdy

(e Delong when you came on to yew vork you had a bill of

dading fer your flour, didn't you and you went to yr Fos-

iter
!f
N

\

'l'_!"eS Sir.

I
i
]
|

;
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By the So.rt. o. When vou shipped the flour at yocur place to this

RO

defendant, do you recollect that, the first load of flour
that voua shipped.
Yes sir.
By what road did you shipn it.
We shinced it through the Philadelphkia and Reading Road.
Vou delivered the flounre at that road, is that it.
Yes sirvr, down to Philadelnhia,
T want to know where vol delivered the flour.
We sent it on to New vork.
Can’t vou tell e hhy whiat road you shicped this flouar to
New York,
the Philadelohia zanl Readin-, Road,
Thenr you delivered the Ffloue to the Philadelphia & Read-~
ing Railroad Cowmnzny, 1is that cight.
Yes Ssir.

To e conveyed by 1t to New vork to this lefendant, is

2id you receive a bill of lading for trhat flour fron the
railrcad conpany or its acent.

Yes sir.
And ycn retainel that bill of lading, yon kent that in
your nossession.

No, we pent that on with the sight draft which we sent

to him.

But vou sent the flour First. A. Yes sir, the same

‘time we sent the flour we Sent the hill of lading and the

sight draft,.

Q. To this NDefendant by mail,

A .Yes sir, sent the bill of lading and the sight draft

|

N |
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throush our bank.
What was the hank to do, to deliver the bill of lading

when it received the amount of the sight draft, cea:n’t yon

e e e ———

tell us about your own business.

They sent the draft on.

AL L N U

ey g

You sent the draft and the bill orf lading to this nNefend-
ant through your bank, that 18, you gave that draft to
your bank to ceollect, Jdidn’t you.

Yes sir.

Were they to leliver the hill or Lading until trey got the

I Tt T T TT .
e Tt v ey . - B -
s T e L e A oo L LR - P R

morney for the dracfct.

ety ———

The draft came back.

Was the bank to deliver uo that i1l of
flour nntil that sight drafi was pvaid.
Wrtether the bank 'vas gJolng to -- -
By Mr Purdy. 7. %an von speak better german thua. Enzlish,
A. Yes sir,
The Zourt: gentlemen, vor will have a recess until two
until we can fi nd an Interpreter,
After Recess,
By Mr. Purdy. Q. ::r Delong yeua said that ycu guve to vonur bankers
at Epwers Station a sight draft on the Defendant Toster,
With the bill of ladins.
Yes sir,
Did yon instriuet your bankers at the time ® not deliver
the bill of lading uantil the Sitgkt draft was paid.
rYes sSir.
When you saw 7oster in the Wworning yvou had the bill of
;lading with vou, did you, amnl he agsked You to leave it

ﬂwith him and yoi left it with hing until afternoon and
51 |
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~when you came i he gave you this draft.

A Yes S1T.

v MO DEOLT N

Counsel: T obieet tc this line of corss examination.
The Zourt: T will allow it.

Counsel: Note an exception,

By Mr Purdy. €. Did yvou believe the draft to be a g.od draft Ffor

PR aat s

the pavinent of money.

T ey

Yes sir, 7 thought ---

&

e e

You tlought it was,

e o S AR AL A T

e —

ves sir.

LR s o n ey g

Would vou have parted with vour bill of l;a.ding unless yon

hadl believel that the draft was a good draft for the vay-

ment of moneyv.
No sir, T wouldnot have varted with it.
It was induced by that faet that von varted with your

bill of lading. A, Ves sSir.

.“\\__,_‘___-___

5y the Jourt. Q. Yhen yon caine here te New vork vou recolleéeted

ol L SN

ycu had the bill ror the flour, diin’t you.

Yes sir.

Ay T AT S PR e e 1

-

You had this draft that day and you had the bill of lading
then you went agnd saw this jefendant, didn’t vo.

Yes sir.

Kow tell tre Jury what took place between you and the He-
fendant at that time, what was said, do you understand

we —-=yon got notice from your hank that that sight drafs
was not naid, didl you.

Yes sir.

Did the bank retur to you the sight draft and the bill

cof lading. A. Yes sir,

i Then you came on here to New Vork withkh the sight draft ard
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the bill of lading in
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Defendant, this man,

st e

Yes sir,

Ll s

Now tell s what tock clace betweer you anl the NDefendant

*Eas s,

whe 1 yon saw him, what he said and what vou said.

B e
T e e

In the morning when 1 got in his of fice I asked about ur

e -

LT e e

b
\
- o -

Ffoster, when 1 got in two offices and i the second one 1

found “r Toster and 1 aske- himm whether he 1is Mr Ioster

LA SR TP
s T

ey T

and he said yes, T told rim T came on -—--—-—

Did you tell him who vou were,
Yes sir, T told him that 1 cane on t¢ see about that ze-

count of Cdour that was sent on, we had sent on a sight

e T g e T TV
- e e

draft and a 1hill of ladins to our Yrank and that ealme baek
unpaid. So he sald that we placed him in =a Tosition
wvhere he can’t colleet nor deliver, T belisve it is in
the letter not paid; sSo we wanted us to Sive him the bill
of lading and the bil; and he wanted me to give him the
Pill of lading, leave the hill of lading with him apd T
shoul!l ecmne in in the afterncvon and he would he ready
witl a draft, = socd draft For the full amcunt covering
the amount of the flenr.

2id yon leuve the +ill of talng with him then or did yon
cane biack aga-in in the arternoon with the bill or lading.
I.left the bill of lading with hin till the afternoon; 1
caine in and then he vave e that draft and T receipted

the bill by taking that draft.

What did he Say %o you about tre last Aralt that he gave
youi,

‘hHe said T should take that draft to our bapk and get the

h money for it.
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91d he say it was a gcod draft,

Yes Sir,

What did he sav ahout that.

The party was good he said,
And Tor yo to take it Lo your tank angd could get the
money for it, A. Yes sir.
Did you believe his Sta tement.

Yes sir, T baelieved him of course.

L ey

You did bBelieve then thiat what he Stated to voua was true,

B TR A

e e — L

Yes sir,

- ra

That it was a goeod draft, A. Yes sir, that is what heg

e b TR S e e AT )

Stated, that the draft was good,

And you parted with the possession of vour bill of lading,

m e e pp——

1s that right, believing that that dratt waiS good.
A Yes sir.

By Connsel. Q. "here did yen go after von left the court-room a

little whole ago.

P s

Why, deoewn to take luneh, over irnn this other Street,

My e .

Qe Who have you scen and talked with since Yo left here,

) [ TR

T it T o 2.

A T only talked with ur Tickery and T talked to Mr Purdy.
Qe  Where did yor sce Mr Purdy.
A. Why, over in his ofFice, aeros: the hall.

Mr Puardy: I Sent Tor ani talked with hinm.

Ey Counsel. 0. "hat did Lr Pardy Say to ¥y u.

-
Sy
e Ty, L.

e -i.-. gl 2T .

R

A He just asked ae about that hill of tading, what is the

s

reason 1 was mixed up so.

_
T, _..‘E}.-'Q‘:?,\‘rm >
v ( A

et P
L

.y

What else did Fre say, how 1id Fre Straighten vou out from

Tt

e
[l Yt

s

Leing nmixed up.

Why he asked me and T told him Just the same as 7 give it

' here, he asked me about this bill of lading ang T told

him how we sent it on.
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Qe What 4did he talk

to you about, wrhat did he say.

A He asked me, what is the reason 1 was mixed up So and 1

teld him the reason whyv.

"hen 1 was sitting baek thare

e et T Mgt oL T o g ] ’*'TT!" ".’-'.’*‘3'_'-';".‘?5?"“*?"_

I had a very severe rain dn1st arcund iy €eyes aeross iny

eyesS and iny head and T was not right.

Qe Mas anybodv else present when this conversation hetweern

you andir Purdy was taking place

Yes sir, \r Vickery.
Did he say anvthing to youi.
We talxed with him a-out it.

0. You and Mr vickerv and ‘sr Purdy.

A. Yes sir.

Qe Ar Delong, ean v recollect anything that ur Vvickery said
he askedl me about the sanme thing, wlat is the reason

-

I was wixed np s0 too and T told hi:n,

Just state his exacet words 4«s neazr as yon can recollect

then.

A. He told me that 1T should give the statement abeugt that

bill of lading, how we hud sent it on anl how it ecame buaek

and how 1 came on here

Did he tell yvou w)at yom ought to say about the hill of

ladiing after vou came on here,

AT Vickery told ne how T ought to aet and 1 Yave him the

cause,

He told you how you ousht to get at it.

As T told him how T was going to get av it while I was here

ard he told e 1 was right but I couldnot get 1t out rigmht

Ey the Tourt., Q. "hat are you, a gerumn,

A. I ain a Pennsylvania gernan.

Qe A Pennsylvania nutehmar,
A. | Yes sir.

!

|

i1
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Ey Counsel. Q. Do you remember having been before thw Police Tourt

and & you remnember havimg testified there relative to

this interview.

Yes sir.

I will reai this testimonv and see 1if you recollect 1t.
“Qe Five me zll the conversation that took place between
yon on the moreing of avwust 17, A. When 1 came in the

wwe

g€ V.

L

office and inquired for him and he said he wuas Geor

A A IR

wosSter T tceld him T came about the flour and then he

wanted a bill and the bill of lading and so 1T =zave that

- i

te himm and he told e t¢ cane hack on that afterncon., ”
Nat correct?

Yes sir .

The next question was: “q, Anvthing el se.

T Xnow or remember, ? Was that true®

Yes sir, we had no di~fienujty in that.

Did not lave anv diffieulty at all.

Not any dismate, no,

This testimony that yor gave there was that trae

time.

Yes, of course.

This question was asked yong- “Q. "hat did he sS4y in re-

spect to the draft at that time. A. He said lhe would

f1ll no tle draft as the contract sald. ” Did yvou testif v

traly ther.

Yes sir, he said he shonuld te placed in a vesition that ho

can’t collect.
That he said in his letter.
Yes sir.,

HWe are talking about the interview that youn had with him

/in the office, you say that he said he would ~ill np the

3
I
i




draft as the econtract said, is that correect.
Y<8 slr, that is the wav he said.
Is that his owwn langnage.

Was this question asked: “Q.

A. Yes sir.»

Yes sir,

You have just testified that at the time, on the day that

PETI e

you surrendered the bill of lai ng to Mr Toster that you

PR

L L

believe ! the draft to be Rerfectly good or lese w i woeulyg

S e

A

not have surrendered it, you testified to that a moment

ago.

Yes sir, when “Mr Woster had explained to me how this thineg

was done, then I beieved the drafl was good but at the be-
ginoinz when he showed me the dra®™t T waz afraid the draft

mizht not be vood but then he explained to me how these

things are done.
Ev he 7Jourt. R. What did lLe Say, Just tell us.

A. Yhy, he saidhe filled ue this draft and T should take thirs

draft along home and t.e Kxept another draft the same &S

this one, i this one sot lost T would get another one,
~d -]

el. Q. The auestion that was asked in the policerourt

N il S VRN
P S o 3
~-r . . . -

was this: “Q. What did Yyou Say to Xelly & Co, or anv of

the employees when vou took the draft to them.

I gave the draft to Mr @marrell and told him t keep it on

colle¢etion, knowing at this time that the draft wonld not

be met.” When you testificd to that was that true?

That T told them that the drart was not good®?

This is you:r answer to the question in the Police Tour s,
you told the employees, oy gave the draft to “Ir "ar-

and toldhim t¢ keep it o collection Lnowing at this

that the draft would not be met,” was that true when

you So testified.




ey ol T sy i e S O TR - LT T e L
'....‘?S-‘_.’,.h-_ BELE SAs -:’—:"Jg“‘.ﬁ’zr'.l :‘-i"..‘_ C - - T PN
s he . Lo . . .
. B ST "

i

Whers T gave the .draft to ur Tarrell T did not Xnew at the

tine that the draft was not good, when 1 left it with M~
fFarcell T did not know.

This is your testimony tefore the Police Court, was that
false, which ¢f those statemnents are trie.

Of ceourse when the draft{ camne tack thren 1 knowed --~-

-'V‘J"r.w--—,o-—.—._._._-.____. v arm—————— P PP (Y T

*ime

I asked yon 1f the statement that von knew it woul .1l net be

oy

paid or the statement trat veal believed it would be paid

ol T T
R Lt Sead] KT

N eI

wasS trie.

When T got the draft through Yr 7oster 1 thought the

draft was goced, but then when 1 came to the Police "ourt

of c¢ourse the dra”t cawe back, then 1 knowed that the
£t was not good.

You ave testifying to a e nversation vou had with v Wwar-
rell at the time you gave him that 1iraft for collection,
you testified be~ore the police Tourt that at that time
you xnew the draft wonld rnot be met.
1€ T did tlhen 1t 1S wrong because 1 di dnot Xnow anvt ing
abcut that party in Tondon when 1 left the drarct with
Mr. Tarrell,
There vas an Ilnterpreter there thrat snoke Zermarn, was
there not, at the time the examination was had.

A. At the Police Tourt?

Fy the Tourt. 2. 7id ven gilve your evidence in gerqsaug or in Engligh

il

& m“m-.

Tlaer,
O

at the Police Court.

A, Some 1n English and some in Jeran.

c.,'r_,ﬂjl;:E'}‘__, e :5. 5

A = L
SIS

Ev Counsel. Q. You said then, “1 snusovected it would not be paii”,

wa S t’r‘t,a.t true t'at when you took it tlat you suspec ted it

would nect be paid.

}
i
i

1At the beginning as T have told vou a little bit ago, but




when he explained to me how this case was done T took the

draft in possession, T thought the draft wonld ke all

e —— ST TS TP 5 0} S

right, would be good.
But when vou got to yr @Tarrell yen Suspeeted it would not
te :paid,

I left it with MrYarrell, gave it to hin

For collection -

when T came to the Police Tourt of eourse whernr the draft

R T T Y R

came back T found out that the 1raftbwas not all right.

And that was the filrst tine that vou suspected that the

dra™t was nct good,
A, OF eccurse, wrern the draft was not naid.

By the Sourt. Q. Then you came to the c-nelvrsion it was net weci.

A, Yes sir.

Ev Mr Pardy. Q. ‘Ir Nelong, you have beern troubled with vour eves

for sone years, have von not.

A.  Yes sir, T told vou 1 hai rery severe troullle about my

eves, T just got 1t when T was Sitting taeck there.

The Case For the nefence.

Counsel: I renew the motion on t} e grounds as stated hefore.

The Conrt: T will denv it and send this case to the Jury,

The “ounsel openeil the case For the NDerTerndant.
Thristian H. Willer swor: and exami ned,

by Counsel. Q. "hat is your business, wyr yiller.

A Janitor,

Qe "What is the build ng,
52 E]“oaai arl 50 New Streat.
37 yeur employment as janitor, what is gour business,

jmy business 1's to eclean the building, also when T get the

privilege from the agents sometimes to send down & bill
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for colleeting rent irf any gentleman o mes along anl takes
an offiee why certainly 1 rents the office to himn.

Will vou state whether in August in auwy portion o~ it last

. T W ere Y ey Y
KL Tt SO it Tt a5 ke '.Tm. =

T

yeéar trere was a tenant in your buildin<g by the nie of

L i

T. Rach.

Yes sir, Thowas Rach or Something like that, 7 rents the
office to him on emnmnissior business.

“What kind of compnission business

T3

e g o IEEE

Cigars and tobacco.
How long dil he vemain in the building,.

He rents the of“ice “rom ine the Tirst of April and the

R A bl Bl T oy
T e P ST why T e

T Saw of him was the rirst part of September in 15855
Q. T to that time ke had an ¢fice in the buildine,
‘ >

Ae  Yes sir, we had to Pt things cut, nobody showel up

Ly the GCourt. Q. Faek did not show ug.
A. PBach 4id not stow "o alfter the first or “epteber, T did
ot see hin, the rent was pald ur toe that time.
U.  "hat did you de with the things,

Al THe “larshall caine, the avent, to 11 spossess, evervthingg

was put out and we had to rent the office to Sone vartics,

I never saw Fach From that tine.

By Connsel. Q. That was the last art of S[evtember,.

As  No, the first ParTl Of Secrtenber,

Qe Up to that time hre ceenpled those of Fices,

A, Yes sir, the rent was paid un tc that.
7ross Examined,

N | You kriow Yr =woster.

A. Mo sir, T do not, T did nct know MY 9OoSter until last

‘night, Delcng, this Geraarn, sStcod np arnd

{
hFOSter, T have seer;

pointed out ir

the gentlemar geing along with IrEach,
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Dint

. . You huave seen Wr ?csSter together.

A. T have seern the gentleman but T 4id not RKrniow it was r

e ora N TN  TRN T IO TOROT

foStec until last niygh t.

By the “ourt. Qe M1d vou ever seu that man baore. vointing to

Toster. )

Yes sir, that csentlenan I have seenq 2lony with “I» Baeh in
the o “ice.

MU Purdy Q. Baeh was i the tebacee o business.,

A. He was in the t Obacco b?]SLI’J&,-.J..) thatl 1s what 7 rented 1t

te him for.
How inany . rooms did he ocen 1DV

He had two saull roams,

What was the rent.

The rent was BIS.75, that is

bill t¢ him,

™ot 1'1111111']}"' 1s this.

This is whit;ore’s building, New Strest.

About thae latter nart or Septenmber Yyor think iyr rTaeh lis-

alneared,

-

I think that was the last time T sewn him; two ;acnths

.{""

S unpaid an! we had to rut hi:m out.

You rezl the
YeS Sir,

Did you read the arrest Cf Gay "oster.

Yes sir.

P1d noet Faeh disannegr rizht after hisg arrest,

That T ecannot tell, that 1 do not know nothing akrout.

He did not have any stoek in anv place, did re.

Mo, only soae cigar hoxes g one thing or another and

Some was empt v,

Did you sell Furnituce for the rent.

v

P oy L
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A. I did net sell nothing, the “arshall had sll to do
1t, he notified, he hung the notiece on the doors.

§ T,
Rl b | LA SO

Q. Five as a. esStimg te,

A I could not give o estimate,

Charles %, otis SWorn and examined.

By Counsel. Q. dr otis, what is veur business,

A. I am a elerk.

the Jourt. Q. <or w hoin.

A Ty e -
e b gy ey e e * LR PR

A, Stephenson or Erooxlyn, a zrocer.

By Conmnsel q. ur Otis,

vere you in the enploy of r woster oricr

to his arrest.
Yes Ssir.,

Were vou aequainted with T. Bach who kegt ay office inp

TN e
TN

e

A« Mere yon acnquaint ed with anvone bv the

LN .
ST v

nzaae 07 Godfrey,
A, Yes sir,

e Tzt e
o AN T
CLE LR

By the Jourt q "hat is his Ff rst name.

A. S. M. Godfrey,

By Counsel. 2. Are you Familiar witt his hapdwriting.

A, YesS sir.

By the Sourt. n. "o you know his handwrit ing, A, Yes sir.
Ry Sounsel. n, Exhibit ¥ shown to the Wwitness, examine that anpd
See 17T vou recognize that as yr FoiTrev's writing.
“ourt. Q. "Mose handwriting is the body of that draft, Go4d-
Praev's, A. Ves sir, that is Fed P rev’s Signature, it is

Qodfrey's writing.

This signature and the tody of the draft is filled up by




hirn,
Yes sir, it locks to me like his handwriting.
All tre writter, rart ¢ it i his handwriting anl the sig-

nature,

A. Yes sir, the Signature it leooks tome as his handwriting,

ey o "
e 7 e -
- ~ .- A '.'-' .
. .

A
A
i

te hadna peeuliagr vay of Sigiing his nane.
any more of
! 1 . x - 3 N agr 1 “ . .
“arn yon finl mﬂ\_dr FC1frey’s wri ting i there, irf SO,

LR

- T ’.-‘5.1 h,f‘ ?‘."\l:“-“
A

DA e

pick it out. Manding witness naners. )

L g A
R T Y

[l e e A B

A, That is nod "rev’'s wri ting there. (Doir hinmeg to a Daper., )

Ey the nourt. . None of the others,

Y = e, 3y
R i ot
ar e

4, No sir,

The Zourt: That 1s part c*© Exhit:it N, 20 yYui offer thige

Counsel: Tt was ofrered if eviidence, 1T will ¢ fer it aZain, T
i
offer it i e-r1l:1 eTice,

The Zourt: Tt isg a4 bajer marked R, S, i Exhitit wn,

1
)
'
L
i
[

.
ey,
’ e

Ey Tounsel., Q. See 17 yon carn find the Signatire ¢° Mr 3od frev

.
WA,

T LA

thaere, fShowing t)e ¥LtnesSs g hotel register.

1.0
B '

PR L

LM

S T

A. That is his handw riting,

G AT T,

et

o ATV T

o e T
L R

1. r Z — 3 - - o T y - ] r2 oo, o ;v
v he onerht: Y, Ye fecognizes tho siongtn re 07 Sajmel 7

-
!

t he 1‘332’?. #er of the 0ol eman Aonse nnder the date o
ISS8G anl the entry is “znuel F0d7rev, Chicago and No, 37372
is tle munker of the roon that he was a$signed to.

Ao Were vyou 4 elerk L the Tolemnar ITeuse,
A. No sir,

Counsel: e wily connect the bocks.

The ‘ourg: Here ecmes his handwriting, the witness Says underp
date o™ “'areh 7, 1235 S. . Godfrey, London, rocm 320,

the othere was Thicago.

By Cor,nnsé?l. 1. Examine the book for dareh 12 and See 1f w1y ean
f . ar -

P . .
jidentif v the Slgnature there.




The ZConrt: Here Lt LS adgain, Sa.uayel dolifrey , Philadelphia, yarch

IT, 1396,

Counsel: T will prove the register is the register of the noleman

.
- i - e ar = ———— AP A W] -'.l.- “ﬁ"u.. -
-

Lowvse,

LI
-

Hr Purdy T will e necede that.

CroSs Rxa:nined.

Tt M.
L -'l""‘""r—‘ At S

r

Hew long were you a clerk for 7oster.

(TR

A fromg about Tune.

AL R B

e e e sy A TR O B R

Evy the Tcurt. 2. Of what vyear. A. 199,

Ne TIp Lt o0 what t ime. A. o to the time o7 his arrest.

By Mr Purdy. Q. Tn August. A. Yes sir.
W» wWhere was the of ficer at this tinme.
No. 42 Trcoadway.

Tow many roomns were there irn that office

TR A gy R e e

"hree rooms-

The first room was a larse room, wvas it.

was the next room,
The next crcocom vasS a private c” fice.
wWhat was the next after that,
The roomn that he had for his own yse.

How many ways were there o getting out of that of fice.

Twe ways, throngh the entrance tc the elevator to the

larse rcoem and threcugh another entrance toe the inpsiie

office.

There are o®fFices here, a inan ceoning up in the elevater

would go intce this rcoom fpointing), here was this little

o roem outside,

A.; Yes sir.

Q-F What was iy that little room outside.

Clesets in tt ere.
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That opbened o0”" into where,

That opened of ™ into tle hal 1wav,

AT & man camne in the Front room Toster e uld g

ot of the baek roon.
Yes sir.
Yon have krnown him to do it Mauy times, hgrern’t vou.
No sir.
What were your duties there,
I was aldressins circulars he had1 to send ont,
"hat was the natnre of t herm.
I ecould not deseribe evervthing,
flow any ol those cireulars do ycu Suppose you ever ad-
dressed,
That would be a pretty hard ma tter tec tell.
court. 0. Anil generally to whoin were thevy aidressed, to
millers,
They were adiressed to ctecple that asked ror them, pecple
Sent 1ln there asking for cireulars and T adldressed Lhe
circilars,
Bv Mr Purdy. Q. "here did you et the naaes 0?-the becole vou ade-
dressed,
They sent their names in.
Inn resrconse to advertisenents in the caper,
Yes sir.
Yon put advertisements ir vapers, didn’t you.
;NO Sir, T Jdid not put ddvertisennents in.
VYou Saw Mr Woster’s advertisemnents,
Yes sir.
ﬂwhat wasS the nature of those advertisements,

'T eould not Sa V.
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A

By the %o rt.qQ. Wwhat dif he advertise Por, give us an idea, yon

LA S ot

W

were a elerk, what was his

7

hasiness.

e mr———,
[
4

o

He advertised for exchanges, 1 a uld not deserile the

3%

whole adrertisennent Lefanse 1 Ao not re.aemmber it, The

business was

Il F
Rkt S
T e

g
.

troker and general conruiss sSion.

¢
* Toe

In what particular lirne ¢ knsiness -

3] TR g
)

T

o

e
.
.

L

- he was ot a Stock
broker was he.

7es, he advertised tl at he woil 1l sell mining stoeks and

B it L L L L R
vl - .. - R
T AL T

]

Xiau i a0

honds,

"":'-'".‘

Aqd Tlonur.

. .
3
T

No sir, he did not avertise that,

L atta

he advertise! that he

would sell ne rechandise or comalssieon,

Flour is merelandise isn’t it,
Yes sir,

Ev ¥Mr Purdv. a. aAni clgars and tobaceo.

A« T do net remenber him adldvertising that.,

Q. General merchandise, is not that his bill-tead, anvthing

that would eome in his way.

Yes sir.

To whom were those Varicus circulars addressed, to all

Parts o the « nntry, all over the conntry,

Theoever sent for thepn -- they were sent all over the

ccuniry, lowa, Ohig, Pennsylvania and ot her nlaces.

By the Court, Q. You mean over the "plited States 1 sSunnoSe.,

A. I mean over the "TTnited States,

Q. . Do you kpnow ur T, Bach. A. Yes sir,

By Mr Purdy, Qe Mas he in the habit OFf coming to the offi ce

hquenly.

A. | Once irn

| a while he would comne in.

You knew this wyr God1frev too.,
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Ves Sirc.,

B i d & L vt &

He used to cone tc the of "ice onee 1ir a while.

Once 171 g while.

What becane of Racl, what i3 the last voua saw of Each.

That was just before Mr Toster’s arrest.

Hare vou: ever seen him a’ter his arrest,

T have never seern him.

Have yon seen Goifrey since roster’s arrest.

No sir, Wr [od rev went to Y.ondon before that,

Did you know William Y. Pgrsops. A Ves sir,

_,.-
e R
ety ot g o ek T

Did yon see him ater “r 2osSter's arvest,

I eccuall not very well.
Q - 1"‘!} L y .

By the Jourt. 2. Vou were askeod why, did you,

A, No sir,

By #r Purdy. 2. Vvou wemld XKnow him 1ifF yon saw hia auai .,

A Yes sir.
The Jourt: ho is P arsonst

AT Pard ve e 1s referred to in this laetter.

Q- Did wyen know willian K. Riekoe o 3,

Yes sir.

Rave you seen hiw Sinee Toster'’s arre st

Yes Sir.

He 13 here in town now, aint he.
You have seen him 1at aely.

e 13 nunpder balil, 13 he not. A. 1T do not know.

Do you know how cftern was parsons

in the habit orf coming
there.

Hq camea 1rn Sevaral times ta my Kmewladoae, 7

cemiA nat
1r
tell you how ofter.

Do you know whetter he hus beer tried and econvieted a nd
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Sent to the State »rison in this court,

..): e

T heard he was.

'

Hor swindiing.

I d net knew the charge.

'??"4..‘-1.....___ eI ———l L L T

J0 you Xnow lessrs. Srimp & 2¢.; Fankers, Amsterdaw, “Tol-

S e

lar . A. No sir,

LAY
., -
CPsreern
—_—td, -

- N

Ey the Sourt. Q. Just look at those Tonr papers, Exhibit @, 77, "

and A, whose bill-heads is that.

P ey
TN v -

e TRV Nk e

,..
Rt e e A
1l o _.'

A. Wr Yoster’s

. whose hand-writing are those letters 1n,

A I cenuld not tell yon.

2. Delayou know 7oster’s writing, A. Yes sir.

Qs Is that his signature there. A. No sir.

Qe Was therec any other elerk thir you in tt at office,

A, Yes sir, there have baern severagl at different times,

Q. Yo were there Cran Tune until AENSt 1399 until his

arrest, who was thevre i Julv to write that,

A There was two or three.

Lkl 0 S DR R
A CERE A T
. v ;

N. Who followed tlein,

A« T d not knew the pnames, T a ). not tell yon, twoe yeaunsz

l{i:'iie S.

Qe Who was the man, what was His name,

A, I de¢ not k-ow his rnaine.

o DO yoir know the writing. A. No sir, 1 do not.

Q. D0 you know the voung ladies writing, don’t vou think

P that locks very like it.

As. Yes sir, it looks very like it, T eciild not sSwear to it,

Q. That looks like the writing cf cne orf the voung ladigs

.r that place. A. Yes sirp,

Q. | The next letter there, whose writing is that,

|
A. jI do not know.

——




jifl POOR L
omcmuu. S

B P . . .
. L. - LI .
L] PR . . N
g_g" ' . L N
é,- L g co - .
H'.; A P - R . -
LR AL A : L
iy .~ ) B :

.
v .\-f.
,.]_‘ e

et
e

=
N

TN

' wirres
-.‘r‘l-'?\.. 4_-.:'.‘_‘
—t e me

tr .

-
FA ]
-

« g
a2l 3 l-‘.'-'—.'"(‘":'?'::‘-" ‘:\‘:E:S‘H x

Lan’ IS

Qe That was written during yonr time.

A Yes sir, it might bhave besn written

r

anl 1T not
wrote it

"t

T

You d¢ not know whose hand -writing that is at all,

I think it is one ¢ the clerk’s he had here,

Are not vou pretty sure it is.

Yes siv, T a4 nrettv sure.

Took at the next one, that was written in August, Anguast'7,

i
I do not know that writing,

mow that one there, that is Exhitbit =@

e m AT an e
T L1 b e /T o L
i T s e - .- CT .

That locks like Mr 7oster’s handwriting.

You have not anyv doubt about thae t, have you.

NO Sir.

Just lock at the heading of that letter, do yor See that.

A, VesS Sir.

0. And this letter T show vou and this letter also, are all
headed 7. ™, =¢ster.

Yes sir,

And this last letter that vou see is i the handwriting

—TA .
Cr e ———— -

of 7. W, Toster &

T e

co

ves sir.

ST

Ty w——

Who was the Tomnany.

I do not know, that was before iy time, this i3 'vyareh 4th.
You ' not knovw

who the Comnany was.

Q. " There was no Jompanv during the time that vou were there,

A Not that 1 know or.

a )8 Did you ever see jr viekerv. A. 1T saw him in Zourt,
Qa; Did von ever see him excent in court. A. No sir,
Q. i Did you ever see Mr Delondg, the old gentleman.
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Yes sir,

Did yon see him at wveur eabloyer’s place of business,

ves Sir,

e T AT DT TR

Did you see this gentleman, one " the firn of Eugane
Kellyvy & no,

there, that gentlenan with the reddish beard
who vas here this mornlng, Mr @arvell,

A Yes sSir,

Q.

Did yoa see the othor gentlenan that acconvanied him,
Elward G. Tavior on one occasion, t'e younger man, were

you there that 1 ine. A. Ves sir.

Who met

those twe gentlenen who entzred that office on

that oceasion, do you recollect thoen coning in and askineq«g
for YMr Poster, A. T

hey cane there twice.
Were you

there on any oeecasion wher they came.

Yes sir,

Was it yon that wanted to know whz t their names was and

what their business was with ur roster,

I cannot remaember that,

Ir Tavlor says that whern they entered the office of r
PoSter that a person apparently a elerk aska=i hin what
he wanted wit ur Yoster anl to give thoirp namnes, are von

the person that did that,
I do not remnenher,

you there the time they saw Tost

¢«r at his desk.

I do not remembeor that, T could not tell you,

Were von there the time he PresSented this draft to him
and asked hin what he had to sav aboit it,

. No sir,

. You were riot there,

T

R TR TP TR T

may have been in the outer office

without krnowing what

R
1

was zolnygz on inside.

i e
S Whe iy
S <o

e e e
o St el

[ Fam= Y )
U R T
o - i RPN
R N ‘..
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A.

Did voun hear any cenversation qal ot the non=-payment o a

draft that was sent to Eugene Kelly &

Co. the banking

house in T,ondon.

A. No sir,

You remained there

e to august, didn’t vou.

Yes sir,

You remained there up to the time of the arrest ir Angust,

To the time of thre arrest,

Then dil you leave there.

After Mr FoSter was arrveSted and the office was closel un,

Jan yon

tell the

tate that was, S1r,

A. No T eannot.
And how soon hefore Toster Has arrested did yvyon see JSod-
frey, A. T econld not tell the date,

Abcut hkow soorn before the arrest.

It may have beer, three or Fear weeks,

I know 1t mav have been, it might have bee:

L)

three or

four vears,

I e uld not tell exXaetly,

To the best of vege recolleetion.

It was three or Four weeks 1 think, 1 did neot SE Yy any

-

attention to it,

Do you know that you did not see him “er three or four

WeeEkSs orior to the arw~est OF Mr Toster or was it

S

three or
Four davs,

It was wi thirn three or four weeks bt

T eculd not tell

exactly how long, whether Lt was two or three weeks,

Was he not there on the TIth of Angnst when he F1lled up

that dAraft, loeok at that drart, is not that dated the

ITth ¢f Angust,

."‘\o Yes Sir-

e mist have beern there that day to fFill & draft up there
on that day,

h& was there on August T171.
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Q,% Did ycu see him after that.
Q. | How sSoon after that was he in.
I could not tell how soon after the I1Ith of August,
hether it was a day or a week.
Since that time did you ever rvreceive any letters fronm
Godfrey & Co., Xondon while vou were there.
Not ‘rom YXondon.
Where used Godfrey & Co. write their 1étterscﬂﬁﬁé_
65 Queen Vietoria Street, Yondon .
Did-ycu ever get any letters,

No sir.

You never saw any letters,

I never saw any letters.

By Hr. Purdy. Q. Lock at those ecirculars and see i° those were thea
kind ycu were in the habit of addressinz, there sSeems to
be quite a variety there. [(Circulars shown. )

"A. Yes sir.

By the Zourt. Q Were you there at the time that this flour was

received from Delong, Pennsylvania.

Yes sir.,

Did you have anything to do with the bill of lading of
that flour.

NO sir.

Pid vycu see it. A. No sir,

What do you know about that flour of NeLong’s.

I do not knew anything.

You were there at the time it was received, weren’t vou,
The TFlour was not received there.

Where was it received.

T do n9t know.

Ny
oy e m
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D0 you know what was done with mt.

No sir, 1 heard what was done with it,
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Who did you hear it from, did you hear it from voster.

T
&

o

I heard it fromn 7o0d frey.

B

TN ey e

Did you hear it from Toster.

R
e

I heard YW roster and yr 30dTrevy talking,
What did you hear became of that flour.
Godfrey shipped it to Yondorn.
He shipped it to lLondon, that yoi heard.
Yes sir.
When was it shipped to lLondon,
I do not know the exact 13y,
O1d you have anything to do with tkre shivping o it.
No sir.
What line was it shipped
I corld not tell that.
You dO no® Xnoew anythins about that.
No sir,
By Mr Purdy. 2. %0 you know anything abont -ir vickery’s flour, his
two car loads of flonr.
No sir,.
Never heard of these at all, A. No sir,
You say those were the kind orf eircunlars ycu were ad-
dressingz, A. Yes sir,
Mro Fordy: 1 offer them in evidence,
The Sourt: The cireulars are marked 0.
Ey wr Purdy. ¢. Nowdid you ever sSee any such eireulars as that

there, is that the letter or a lithograhhic c¢ireular.
?il

A, . That is written with a pen.

| .
By the gourt. q. Whose handweid ting is that in, is that your lg

dy’s

57




handwriting,

Ae Tt is nmde bv
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one of the young ladies, 1do not know whieh
one.

PETLT P
[t gt

Is that 7oster’s handwriting.

A- ]‘:0 Sir "
Whose is it.

That is one of the elerk’s in the office,

And that, fAnot)r er paper shown, )

It loocks like Toster’s writing,

i1t 1S “oster’s Signa-
ture,

Ey Mr pPardy. Q. Is this william H. Parsons the gentl emar you Saw
with ?oster ©rom time to time,

(Pointing to a na ry, )
Yegs sir.

And he is the william w

. Parsonswho

nsed the re"erence of
Parsons ¢ no.

in the letters by ir ~oster,

is trat So.
A Yes sir.

Ev Mr Hughes. g Yere vou aequainted wi t*

I Bache's handwriting.
A. I\:O Si r.

Wr Hug' es: I offer R. g. "unn & Co.’sS reference bock for July 3,

in evidence, showing that T,

rache w-——
The Court: Never mind what it shcws,

T de¢ not think tkat Dunn?’s
book is legal evidence,

Mr Highes: That is one of the names inentioned in our attachment;

we take an exception.

flenry A. Conklin s

vorn and examined,

By ir Hughes, Q. "what is you business, ur con

“Yin., !

A« Truckman,
Qe

Have you brou;:ht your becoks with you,
As I hare one bock here.

Wha t do you want to brove by hin,

I want to prove trat he hauled this pflour From the storage.f

E
|
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warehouse for ., .

Fodfrey at the written

request c¢f
Mr. *oster,

he has got the letter there with the exact
date.

By the Jourt. .

Have yon got that letter,

Al I have a letter that )i

foster wrote Lie introdueing

ar
God Frey to me,

Did God”reﬁ brins you a letter

frem woster,
Yes sir, a

entleman renresenting himself® as

brought a letter tc

my office.

Is this tre letter. (Showing it. )

That is the letter

In pursuance of this letter on

your interview i th this
perso n who represented hisel™ to be

: godfrey, what did
you “o.

I tock one

undred and twenty-five or one hundred and

thirty barrels of flcur ocut o the warehouse and shipped
then,.

When was that.

I would have to refer to my

book to zet the exact date,.
About when.

Along about angust, 1 ean tell 'you hy the boock, we have
hundreds or

such cases all the time. On the 17"tk of

Augnust T took cone hundred and thirty barrsels of flour
from I6F washington Street and shipped it to the steam-~
ship Nevada, Pioer 38, North River, for 5. M. . FodTrey.
Where was it shipped tc, London

A.  Yes s2r, it was marked a diamond

Q.;

G, C outside.
And where did you take that fronm,

A.ﬁ I took that fron 161 Washington Street.
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Did you have a bill of lading on it.

-

No sir, it was in the warehouse, There is the memorandum

1 -

of the cooperase: he ordered me to pay the storage, coop-

il

e

eérage, ete., which T paid.

You naid 27, 39 ¢ : €5 suceh as coopera.e, storacge,

T T s rCRtat AN Seblit SV ATR

T T

+

€te. while it was in your warelkouse, 1 sunnose,

LA ST L T
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A. Yes sir, then on tke 12th of August --

b

MLk ]
LR
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By Mr Hughes. Q. We are talking about this smne'transaction.
A, This is the sape transaeticn, this is the same flour T
afterwards tock "rem the guion T.ine cn August I8, 1 took
it from the Steamship Neradu, Guion Line and Sshipped it

to the Momareh ILine, Jersey gity,

Qe At whosSe request.

A le Godfrev & Co.

Q. That was one hundred and thirty barrels.

A, The suhk one hundre! and thirt Y barrels,

Qe What day was that, ,

A. That was on the 18tk of August it appears on my book.
Bythe Zourt. Q. VYou first took 1t down to the quiocn Line,

A, ves sir.,

. The steammship Nevada belongs to that 1line T Ssuppose, and

then yoeu sot subcequently an order to take it away from

that line and take it over to the Yonarch Line, .ersey

City and that order you filled on the IRth o~ August and
tock i1t cver,.
Yes. sir,
Cross Examined by YMr pnrdy,
Wich steamer sailed first,

I ecould not tell you, the sSteamer Nevada I think hag gone

out, T do not know for what reason they wished me to

——
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reship it tut 1 got it from the Guion Line and tock it to
the Monarech Line, 1 suppose Drohabtly cn aceount cf the
cvercrowded freight, although 1 hada parmit to shipnit

on the Nevada.

T ——

Do you know whetrher it got on te the Nevada,

Ne sir, I do not think it ever went aboard ship,

AL LTRSS

e -

And the Nevada could not carry it.

S P T T e g
- Cal

I think tlhat was the t rouble.

—-

Did Zodfrey sav anytking to vou about it.

NI e

No sir, T would not Xuow Mr godrrey, I hare a hundred

Ll

cases of the same kind where we ship lots of goods,

Qe Mr Toster paid you.

Tt s

Ao Yes sir, Mr roster paid me all his kills,

Mr Purdy: 1 will read this letter, I o"fer it in evidence,

mark ed Pecples’ Exhilit X.

"red W. Ridgway swcrn and exanined t.y yYr Hughes.
Whkat is your business, yr Ridgway.

Clerk ~or the white Star lLine,

Have you with you the passenger list of the white Star

Line for August, 1886,

1 have,

Will yeou examine it and see if it contains the same of
S. N. C. Godfrey, and give the tcat that he sailed on.

A.U 26th of August, 71386 in the Eritannic, Mr S. N. C. Fod-—

. frey is on the list.

By ¥r Purdy. Q. You do not know who this 7od “rey was.

No sir, T do not know anything aktout kim.

You do noct know whether he was a LLondon banker,

No sir,
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reship it btut 1 got it from the guion Line and tock it

the Yonarch Line, 1 suppose probably cn account cf the

cvercrowded freight, al though 1 hada permit to shipnait
on the Nevada.

Do you know whether it got on te the Nevada.

No Sir, 1 do not think it ever went aboard ship,

And the Nevada could not carry it.

I think that was the trouble.

Did ZFodfrey say anytking to vou abeout it.

No sir, T would not RXuow Mr godrfrey, I havre a hundred

cases of the same kind where we ship lots of goods,

Qs r Toster pard you.

A Yes sir, Wr roster paid me all his rills,

Mr Purdy: 1 will read this letter, 1 o"fer it in evidence,

marked Pecples’ Exhihkit X.

"red W, Ridgway swocrn and examined 'y Yr Hughes.

What is your business, Yr Ridgway.

Clerk "or the white Star Line.

Have you with you the passenger list of the white Star
Line for August, 13886,

1 haVe.

Will you examine it and see if it contains the same of

S. N. C. Godfrey, and give the l'cat that he sailed on.

26th of August, IS85 in the Eritannie, Mr S. N. C. gGod-

“ frevy is on the list.

By «r D;ﬁrdy. Q. You do not know who this Zod "rey was.

¥ noteien
PRI BT

Xy

al

No sir,

I do not know auything akcut Fim.

]

Ches
R u
e -1

You do not know whether he was a Tondon hbanker,

No sir,
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Qe . Do you %new he was formerly 6f chicago ard Philadelphia.
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A. I know nothing akeout him whatever,

e

The 7 ourt: Are you gcing to prove that j3odfrey came back,

=

Mr Hughes: No sir,
WMr Purdy: They wmant to show the shipment o the flownr on the

Monarch Iine, 1 will concede that.

e S g P

Mr Hughes: e want it understood that it left New vork.

Ar Purdy: I will concele that it left New York ard thev wot it

P AL NI gy

way asquick as pessible,

The TJourt: That is admitted, that the one hundred arpd thirty bar

TII T e Tty g weor

rels ¢ flour were shipped on the steamer o~ the Monarch

srm

Line fron Jersey City to London, England.,

ST

Mr Hughes: Yes sir,

Gay Y. Toster swcrn and examined,
Ev Mdr HﬁgheS. Q. Mr ZToster, vou are the de?éndant in this aceticon,
A. Yes Sir,
Q. And the person referred to as banker and broker,

way., A. Yes sir, 42 Rrcadway.

Will you state to the Jury how ycu came to purchase this

‘»

flour fTrom Mr Delong and the entire transacticn as

briefl v as possible,

i
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Givin: dates?

As nearly as possible.

Give me my letters I have here.

How came ycu to enter into the transaction.
I will have to have my letters there tc refer to dates,

Just state how you came to make this purchase frun Del.ong
. =

at who se request and how it came about.
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I made this purchase Trom Srim & ldel.ong, Rower Station,
Pennsylvania, at the regquest of < M. 7. GodfTrey of tke
Firm of S.M.C. 30dfrey in London, 595 Queen Vietoria St,
London, that is wlere re teld me he had his place ¢~
business; that was pursuant to an agreement trat he made
with me scme time in Acril or a"ter the first of ay,
about the time trat 1 moved down on Foradway.
By the Tourt., Q. You are talking aktont godrfrey.
A VYes sir,
By Mr Hughes. 0. "hatvwas the a greement ycu entered into.
A. The a _reement was that T was to ship goods from this
country over there and receive my coumission and he was
to ship goods from there kere and receive his comnission

there in that way each of us ma King a couunisSsion.

Let us cone down to this tran Saction, was ke here in'Au~
Vs [z

The last time that 1 saw him was the day that he sailed
cn the steamer T'ritannie of the white Star Line,

He was here in August last,

I do not remember the date bt 1 went tc see the steamer,
to see¢ him orfrf,

That was in August.

Yes sir.

J1d he authorize thre purchase of this f£1our.

Yes sir, T sold him this flour Ly sample at myv own ofFfice

W N g Lty —

State what he gave ycu for it, the whole tusiness trans-
actiorn,

He dave me a draft for that invoice of flour, Adrawn at
three days sight and the draft according to my owr

computation cnly covered part of the bill, it did not
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pay for the Flour in Tull, it was sonmething like 371.75
or 33.258 short of the invoice, it was my own mistake in

reckoning the exchange, , 1 reckoned the exchange at

34,835 or $4.84, 1 have forgotten whieh and on that ace-

count 1t ran about 82,00 or 2.25 short, sonething like
that,

Qe DO You remauwber after you received this draft and had ob-
tained the four Trom Frim & Delong do ycu remember the
conversation ttat took place between Nel.ongyg and yourself

1n yow” ¢office on the day tlat he came to vour of*“jice.

Ev the “ourt. X+ What day did DeLong first come to vour office,.

A. He came tc mvy ofice on the IT1th day of August, as T re-

member.

By ur Hughes. g

iy,

Now state the conversaticn trat took place be-

tween vou and Del,ong.

He caiae in and asked if my name was Toster, 1 said yes,
he had a till ¢f lading with him and said that he had a

bill ¢f lading and he came to see me in rezard to the

invoice that 1 had shipped him in the early part of Au-

gnst as 1 remenber it,

1 said, MT DelLong, you have Dlaced

me in a very embarrassing nosition, you have drawn on me
at sight without any order fromn me or

—

any instruction fopr

me to do so and I have not got thre money to pay for the

flour, 1 promised to send you my custoner’s draft for the
flour.

e drew me up at sight,the kill of lading is
attached, he

g

Said trhe flour is irn

Storage, you can have

the flour. The flour was in Storage at I63 and 165

Washington Street and had been for about a week be

fore 1
ever saw this man.

What did Delong say to that.
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Mr. NDel.onz said he was perfeetly willinyg to Eive me a
bill of lading, it was made out in my owr name, it was
shipped to .W. Toster, New York, 1 took the bill of 1z -
ins and examined it, it was all vight, T told Him tc ecne
in the afternocn, that 1 would give him a draft for it,
and T would transfer the flour to S.M.C. 301 Prey £ COol,

I told him I had the warehouys €& recelpt fFor the Flour in
my pocket, T told kim 1 would transfer that bill of lad-
ing and ccmplete the sale,

fave yon had any further conversation. !

That was the gist of it and the full sense of the con-
versation that took Place, 1 could not give the exact

words, it was last August,

ourt. Q. Did you give him the draft.

He leTt the bill of ladine in the morning atout tepn
o’cloek, I gave him the draft in the afternoon,

The draft that was produced here,

I ecould not say until 1 sece it,

Look at Exhibit E.

That is the draft that 1 Fave him,

By Mr Hughes. Q. Anpd where did you get that

I got that froog S.M.Z. G30dfrey.

Wher. |

On the 11tk day of August,

The same day,. A. The same day,

Wa s there anything said at that time abcut the drgrt be¢?j
good or was it questioned at alil by Y» Delcng.

He did not question me 1 respeet to the value o~ the

draft except as to how mucek an English pound was,

ing; he did
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or what it was, T told kim .that the usual rate was abous

PR
BEPRIRRPETL, £ 0 ¢ X8 ",

$%.35 for a pound anil we fignred up at that rate, as T

ramaaber it, it was either 3$1.54 or 34.3%, he figured us

g

this and T showed him it rell short o©¢f the amount of tte

invoice, T explained to him that i§ was my own miStake

not asking %odfrey to give ke this draft, that 1 khad made

a mistake in computing it and ha?! not aSked Cor enciagkh.
After you stated that transaction with DelLonyg, when did

yeu next see r 4edfrey.

I saw him the next day, he:made my ofTice Lis headquar-

ters, he was there nearly every day for month

Anl did you deliver the warchouse receipt to ir Golfrey.

Yes sir to Godlfrey at the sane time 1 delivered the bill

of lading,

that time you gave him this letter to the truekman,

the time if 1 remcher rightly 1T vave him this letter

introduetion, it might hkave heern a day or two later:

asked me for the name of some responsible trueckman and

I referred him to H.A.Conklin, 147 rearl Street and gave

himm a letter of recoumendation as I rememb er it.

Did you have any understanding

with Mr Delong relative to

T —

coONilsSsS lcns

Yes sir, I had,.

T

State what it was.

I had an understanding wittuhim that he was to send meg

his check as soun as he arrived hone For two and a hail

percent cof the amount ¢~ that invoice less the difference
in the invoice and the draft which T had given khim --

that T weuld ceharge to Gfodfrey on account of havingmade

the mistake mysel f:

he agreed tc send me my commission orf
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two and a half percent less the difference that 1 had mis

take Iie

+ Did he ever send it.

e ey e TV LR "’?"!'Y.

No sir, he did not.

After you gave that letter to Godfrey and the warehouse

.l‘lm_ PRI e
C e e,

receipt did you ever see that flour again.

T

[ TR LS

No sir.
Did you ever receive any o7 the proceeds from the sale oF

it, directly or indirectly,

L B L e I O I R T SEC LN PR

No sir.
Your entire relation to the transaction then was his com-
missicn tbtroker.
Exaetly, yes sir. T would like tc state in connecti on
with that thoush that 1 amaout of the “reight.on the en-
tire matter up; to the rvresent tine.

By the Sourt. 0. 30dfrey has not palid you anything,

A. No sir. 1 was tc¢ld that the clerk of the guicn Y.ine in-

formed r Godfrey that they shipped direet to JTondon and

in pursuance of that he sent the flour to the Guion

era et O DT e
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Steamship Zompany, and was afterwards refused a bill of

lading because they shipped direet to Liverpocl instead

of. London., He had to make out a new bill c® lading and
~had it transferred to the line that did ship, the “lonarch
Steaimhip Company . M Godfrgy gave me this bill cflading
i that you see here, he gave me that one, took it out of
- his pocket and left cne with the Companvy,. 1 weﬁt down

to the Produce Exchange and had it insured so that it

_ would be safe. There is the policy lying with the bill

of lading.
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Were yon acquainted with Mr T, Bache.
Yes sir, 1T was.
Will you examine the signature ln the draft there,
that his signature.
Yes sir, that is his Bignature.
Is he the maker.
Yes sir, that is hi® signature, that draft was made by
T.Pache, 52 Brcad Street, one hundred :ind twenty davys
after date and it went to ‘ir viekery.
Will you examine the signature on that draft. (Another
draft shown, )

A. Yes siv, that is the same signature, T.PRache.

Mr Hughes: T offer it in evidence, it is drawn on the same bank.
We wan t toshow that "oster has handled otk or paper of
that kind that has been paid, the Same man on the sane
bank, 1t is_very material. Mr #oster endorsed it on the
Lack. e o7fer this for the curcose of showing intent,

The Jonrt: Suppose that this particular draft was given to Viek-

ery % 7o' and was rot pald, what difrerence would that

umke?

”,

M Hughes: Tt would make az great deal as showlng the intent,

The Gonft. I do not see the materiality of it.
Mr Hughes Note an excent ion.
Q.; MY *oster, how old are you.
A.f Thirty years of age.
Q.{ Where r'were you bornmn.
A. Deloit, ™isconsin.
How lomg have you bsen in business For yoursel © and where.
I have heen in business for mysel f betweer twelve and

L%

thirteen years, for the past five years or jore in New
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York city.
And hefore that.
Le"ore that T was in business in Chicago several years
and T have been in business in Paris and TL.ondon, in c¢on-
nection with mamifacturing canpanies, 1T was general man-
ager., There i8 ome thing 1T would like to explain before
we go any ~“urther, to the‘jury, and that is how T became
geqguainted with GodTrey and how 1 came to have business
with him or have any confidence in him. Mr fodfrey was
the secretary of a manufacturing ccmpany at 56 Queen Vie-
toria Street, called the Lewis Wire fompany or Tire Ex-
tinguisher; it was started bty a man who was formerlly
in business with me in “hicago, a nan of Ffirst elass
character and gocod standing, his name was E,H,LeSis.
Godfrey being the secretary of that company and being
under a good salar-, as he told e, and a large stock-
holder in the company, 1 had contidence in him 2s a bus-
iness man; he came tco me well recommended and he repre-
sented himsel £ to have ample meansS to ecarry on hisS busi-
ness; he told me that he couid econtrol five thousand
dollars cash capital to commence with, that he had influ-
ence¢ in London and that he cculd place loans there: it
was his intent and my intent to obhtain loans “rom thi s:.
ccuntry for the London market. In pursuance of that in
answer $to the people that wrote to me asking for lcans, 1
Sent out circulars and had a good many mortgages sent into

me., T have had at one time about a hundred thkousand dol-

lars worth of inortgages in my possessiocn, f{irst mortgagses

on real estate all 6ver these TUnited States in answer to

cerrespondenca. Pecple have sent their abstracts of
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titles, Tihave got sane of the in my pocket: the v have

)

Sent me notes, pecole that were reputed to be worth

B R M)

$2500¢ or Foovo theusard dollars, 1 have over 825000

gocd ccllateral securities in Iy pocket thi s mninte that 1

e

- "'_'T")\,--..h - -

have secured all over the United States in my line of

T HLalAe £ 1T

business, Godfrey’s plan was to send these mortgages

Ty e
e

+
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after tlhey were examined by my several attorneys: he

a1,

T
I e

would sell them in YLondon and make his pro“its on the

difPerence in the money market, getting money cheaper
there than here, 1 would make my commission on this side,
he represented to me that ke was in a position to ao thét,
that he was in the banking tusiness, I have a doeumen t

here which says Some thing about his partner.

How long have you known ur Rache.

Bache T have known for abcut ten years,
Whut was his business whern vyou knew him,
He lived on his income, at least e said he did, the first

eight or nine years that I knew him,

Vha twwas his husiness when yoen were transacting businpess

A

witht him,

I loanei him money all that time, at different times,

-
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I askod you what his business was,

He did not arpear to have any, 1 i1 rnot knowv wha¢ his

AT YT
T e
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business was, he might have had private interests, 1 do

A

ot know that he had ayy regular €Stablishedbusiness,

that is durins the early part of my acquaintance with him

Qe Did you evar kpew him to have an office.

A. ;'j' YeS Si T

Where was that.

He had alu office at 59 Broad Street, two offices togetherp,
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Qe Was thtere any sign on the door.
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A, Yes sir.

Ry the Jourt. 2. What was it, Commission “Jerchant.

A. He was a Jobber in cigars and tobacceo: his sign was,
T.”ache, that is all 1 reueimber seeing,

Ev Mr Hughes. 1. He was a jobbter in cigars and tobacco.

A. Yes sir, he 15 So.rated by the mmercantile agents,.

Qe You say that yoan had maony transaections with Mr Fache.
A, Yes sSir.

Qe Did he pay the money that he borrowed o°f you.

Yes siv, on aany occasions he has, 1 have loaned him

Cr e T e e g Y S ety -
ar . ’

tioney without his note, on his simple word, T have loan-=d

him money o7 his nctes at different times, he has paid

them, 1 passed him money on drafts, T have sSold him goods

and bought gocds fronm him, done anbusiness with hkim of

probably forty thousand dollars in the last ten years.
Have yoa ever had during ycur business experience in New

York your chteek hill of exchange or draft protested by

any bank,

No sir, T have had a note protested recently.

wha t bank.

I kept an account with the Merchants Exchange }MNational

Up to what time.

If you will let me refer to the book T will tell you. 1

had an aceount there October 9O, 1887 up to July 10, 15%%

where did you have a bank account in 13353,

I TR86

I had a bank acecunt in the National Park Eank.

When did it comnence.

That comuaenced in August 26, 1584 and ran up to December

2, 133G, The way 1 know 1 paid this balance 34.40 to
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Square the account while T was in the Tombs,

iy MU Hughes. Q. Have you ever been arrcested, uUr Toster.
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A. T will answer tkat question 1f 1 might explain the eir-

cumstg nees, Yes, 1 have been arrested, 1 am arrestead

now on three indietuments.

Lie L W
v T e,

T P

-

Any other time beside this.

.ﬁf ™ g, -

Yes, the first time 1 was arrested T was a boy seventeen

P S TR ]
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or eightesgn years old, it was “or thrashing a picknocket

LTI AT T

in Chieago. The pickpeceket was sent ug, The next time

I was arrested it was for engraving thkis label that 1

—~——

—~

will show you.
By the Jourt., q. What wasdone with you.

A. T was fined twenty-five dollars "or engravinpg that.

Qe Where was that,

e e e ———— .
P

A That was in Chicago, but 1 did not cay the fine, T was

N

I

not requestad to vay the fine.

Q. Now the next.

A. The next time T was arvested was wn chicaygo again; that
#as Tor writing some letters for another party,
What w;s done with you.
I was fined fifty dollars which was nevear collected or
asked for.
By WMr Hughes. Q. The next time .
A The next time 1 was arrested for sellins an interest ina

telephonegPahent,
By the Touvt., 2. where was that,

Ae That was in Chicago.
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Qe What became of that,

NEPTERY

LRt
A

Ae | I was honorablyg disclarged by Justice Mook

“
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|

Qe JINOW any other time,

Q- XSV
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A. The next time 1 was arrested in New York City here, T

arrested fTor selling an interest in another patent and T

was discharged for the consideration that 1 would not
comineérece a sult a:ainst the other carty.

Qe Who were you brousght hefore,
Before Judge Denohue, if 1 rem-mber rightly,.

That is not where you were first arrested,.

It was a civil Suit, it was not a eriminal suit.

When was the next time you werezarrested eriminally,

The next time 1 was arrested was when 1 received a very

foreible notice of protest on this dra”t of ¥r godfrey’s

in the shape of a warrant.

You mean that is the time Mr Sheldon arrested vyou, in

leaving your office.

A, Yes sir, that is what T mean exactly.

Ry the urt. Q. So that makes six or Seven times ycu were ar-

rested,

A I conld not say, fFive, T think your “onor.

Qe You were arrested when you were seventeen years old,

A«  TIncluding that time, yes,

Qe Then for engraving, third for wWriting a letter and rined

fifty dollars, Ffourth for something in chicago whers you

wére acquitted, the Fifth was ip New York for selling anp

interest in a patent and the Sixth is the Pbresent arrest

Yes sir, but T was never arrested for felony. until this

time.

You szy Mr ®arsons brought it here.

Yes sir.

Explain

to the Jury how you cane to put his name on your

bapeérs as & reference,
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A. Mr Parson3 was introduced to me by :r Rachke in his of-~

SR RCANS
R A

: o
I 1 et vt e e I T o
T h e it e e R

R L F X W SR
AT APUIDY SN S
Coett- oY

. fice at 52 Broad Street one morning when 1 was -lown there

tc pay him for sowe goods 1 had ‘vought. Parsons afte —
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wards called to see me, 1 gave himn one of my cards i T

remenbsr cocrectly. Fe said he had recently cane back
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from Europe feor Jim Blairn, Jim Flain’s grand syndicate,
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as his agent.

Blairr! s agent.

Yes sir, Jawmes G. Blaine; he said that he went to L,ondon
fqr James G. Blaine’s syndicate, to sell a lirse lot of

land, James G. Blaine was the leading man in the syndi-

cate and he was nwid five thovsand dollars for < oing

—

over, atud he referred ne to Stephen E, Elkins, Rcswell
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P.*lower and several other independent gentlemen, amongst
others he referred me to the agent of MrAames, the present
governor of Massachusett s,

Qe Did you go to see Gov. Anes of Massachusetts.

Ae I did not, he showed me a letter From Comuiissioner
o

-5

By Mr Rughes. 9. 1T want yeou to state vyoar relajions with Mr Par-

Trench

sons, how you cone to refer to him.

By his nemnission.

Jid you have any business relations with Darsons.

I have, yes,

State them to the jury, ewxactly what it is.
He made an arrangement with me to buy and sell his paper,

his notes, 1 was a note broker, that was part of my

banking business, a private banker, he made a Statemant
to me which T have in writing, that he was worth —— —_

Which one of those books is it in.

|
|
the index )

It is in one of the last books, you will see in
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W.H. Parsons, 1 want to show the referernce this

tc e,
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By the Court. Q. Mow did you come to put his name as reference,.

A That was by his own permission,

By Mr Hughlkes. Q. Have you ever had any other business transactions

with him,

A. I have had a great number of business transactions with

h iln-

Were they all note brokerage transactions.

No Sir.
Any other kind.

he borrowed meney from me on sereral oeccasions.

ArFoster, you are avare of the fact that he has b:en triad

and convieted in this court.

I have heard so, 1 don’t know what ~ourt it was in,

Do you remnemnber the charJe that was brought against him,

I do, most distinetly, it was on my acecount that he was

arrested,

By the ZJourt. 4. And yet he€was one of your references.

A. Yes, he was owe: of my references.

Ey Mr Hughes. Q. Were you ever directly or indirectly interested

in the transactions for whieh he was arrested and tried.

A  No sir, 1T never hadanythking to do with his erooked trans-

actions whatever.,

Cross Examined by ir Purdy.

Qe Speaxing about Parsons, Parsons advertised in papefs for
!

employees did he not.
Not to my knowl edge,
For azents,

Not that T know of.




Did not you understand that he advertised for agents anq
& young man as securlity for his good eonduet placed soms
diameonds and jewelry with him, a pin and seal and that he
went to State Prison For it.

I told vyou what 1 know abtonut this case, 1 heard so, yes
sir.

D1d you not understand when the young man cale ater his

diamends and Jewelry that he said ke left trem with you.
The young man told him so » 0SSt emphatically he did not
leave anything with me,
But he had pawnei then.

I don’t know anything akout thrat.

Jo you recollect the Adi"Ficulty with ~r Vic kery, the

flour merchant,

The nresent difficulty is the only one,.

You recollect being sude by Hermann.

Irn a eivil ecourt, vyes sir.

You recollect judgment beinyg obtained against veu,

That 1T do not know to a certainty,

Did the Sheri®® o dowsn there.

I could nct say certainly whetrher 1 huve ever seen that
~udgment; the sherif® did cane to Iny office tec leave —-——=
Did not you tell him the furniture and e7erything belong-
€d to your wirfe,

No sir, 1 didnct,

How did you get rid orf the shkeriff,

I referred him to my attorneys, 1 told hiip that he should
g0 and seec them in regard to the matter,

Did the furniture belong to your wi re,

Ne sir, the equity in the furniture belonged to me.
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Q. Was there a chattel mortgage on it,

A. I could not say there was, it was rought on installments,

I could not say how much was paid on it,
Ey the Couect. g. How did you buy it.

A, I bourzht a Warvin <Safe and 1 bought furniture from
L

Coperthwait and fron others, part of it was all paid for
and nart of it was in installments, it could have been

levied on very handily.
By Mr Purdv. 2. You never pald the judgment.

A. The judsment has never been paid because my attorney

Charles I.7ohen said he would copen that judgment.

You didnot put in au answer,
That is not iny fault.

It has never been paid. A. No.

Whenn did you Ffirst make this arrangeraent with godfrey to

accert this arrangement that you say he had, he was to

work I.ondon and yocu work New York, when did vou make that

T ecould net give you the exact date, perhaps it covered

twe or threce mecnths time.

In August or hefore August.
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Oh months befcre.

o
é-"-'k a

Months before August.,
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Yes sSir.
T7id Jodf ey 3ign his pame to that dratct,

Yes sir Mr Godfrey signed his name to that drart,
on the TIth of August.
Yes sir, on the T1th of Aug:st.

Did he S8ign the acceptance on that day,

He Signed the accentance on the 1Tth day of August and

afterwards changed the date to the I3th.
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Why was that done.

That is to Say he did not change the date but he inserteasd

P ALa ~Lors oY N P W e ey

the dzte August 17, hecause whern he "irst accented it on
the TIth day of August in the name o the Tirm it belongw
to he omnitted to put in the dats c¢Ff my accerptance,

When you gave this to NDelong was it accepted and Ir=zwn
LusSt in that way,

No sir, it was not drawn as it is here now,

How did vou yet it haek.

A clerk, at least a man pretending to be a clerk

Sourt. Q. Was it delivered to Neliony on the TITth o Augnust,

It was but not in this shape.

Had Godfrey accepted it at the time vyou delivered it to
Delong.

He hal accepted it in blank.

When did he put in the day.

On the Tith day of August.

Where did hu get the draft

It was rrought to my office.

By whom. A. Thut T do not know, by a young man rep-
resenting himsel? to be the representative of Bugens
Kelly & %o. As T sald before %od rey made my of"ice his
headqguarters, he was there almost every day.

o you recollect YUr 7arrell and Yr Taylor of Eugene

& Co. ceoming tc yon.
Yes sir, T do not know that T would have identified
There was two gentlemen cone about that draft.

Two gentl emen came to see pe about this draft.

When did they come.
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They came as T remember it on the T4th.

"~

Godfrey was still here with YOl
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Yes sirvr, right here in New York.

i

Did not they tell you tlat thev would telegravh to Teondon

R e,

TR Y

that there was no Godfrev there.
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No sir.
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Did trhey tell you anything o that sort -- what di.d they
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tell you, this dra~t is drawn on 7odfrey & Co. 55 Queen
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Vietoria <Street, Yondon, yonu know that.
Yes sir.

don’t you know that these two gentlemen told vou that

e

they came to see you, they had telegraphed to Tondon and
they ascertained there was no such company.as Godflrey %
3

at 335 Queer, fictoria Street Leondon, g£.7.

I do not RKnow that they used those exact words.

Jidn’t they say tkat in substance.

No sir, not in subrstance.
What didl they savy,
In substance thev said to me they cculd not find out arny-

thing about the irm.

gt T T
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And thocat thev had telegraphed.

g

T do not remember their Saying any such thing.

s T T T A I sy
R

All this tine Godfrey was in the city of New York.
Why did not you tell thenq where they eccould find o1 rey.
I think mr *arrell who elsaimed to be a membour of the fiprn

of Eugene Kelly & Co. knew that jcdfrey was here in the

city and that he could sce him at my office by appoint-

xent at any time, the same as T told Mr Delonyg the first

time he called to sce me.

By Mr Purdy. 9. You are sure you told Mr Farrell that.

79
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Yes sir 1 did.

That fBodfrey was here in the city and that he could see
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him any time he called.
He could see him by aprointment at my office at qy time.
Was Ir Taylor present when youa told that.

I cannot identify this gentleman as being the same man.

Akaias ol TN ey
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Jourt. Q. lock at that gentleman. (Pointing to (r Tavlor)

™

A RELY

o AT

Put on your hat,. I conld not swear that he was the manp

e —— g 4

that came with Wr Tarrell, and 1 wouldnot swear tkat 1t

was not.

TN E D Y ey e

By Mr Purdy. Q. Did vou ever see YWr Jarrell but once.
A. No sir; there was another man who e¢laimed to be an orfi-

cer; 7 had a deputy sheriff in my employ, T told him T

r e '3““.’.“"?‘---m-—-_ s

*

did not propose to be insulted in my office by anybody.

v
T,

You theought it was an insult whoan they came to you and
asked you about a draft dwawn on the I1tk and accepted
on the 13th which they telegraphed to London about and
found there was not any such peison there.

Excuse me, Mr Pyrdy, “Ir %Tarrell when he came into my

AT TR g
R KA

place was guidty of a misdewesarnor, he came and tried to

(a1l
i
)

coerce me into paying something that T w25 under no ob-

S N ton J scry|
T S
Y Cen

ligation whatever to pay an: Hesalid that he had an ofci-
cer with him and all that.

You have never been coerced into rpaying for flour.

I have not been coerced into it but 1 have paid a gocd
many bills,

Jo iyou know the firm of the Fuffalo ¥illing Companvy.

I know a-firm, T Xnow them at least ~--

91d you have that corresvondence with that firm. (Papgrs

shown. )
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Yes sir, these letters came from my office and this ceor-

respondence issued from my office, not all my writing,

o e ST ATMIE AT LT TR

sone o7 it 18 written by eclerks.

R R 1

Now this date September 2, did you receive some flenr

e ——

from them.

T, .
Ry al o .

I could not tell without referring to my hooks.

I will read you a letter and see i~ this wont refresh

il bl T SR

you, dated September 2, TR°6, did vou give then a draft
for ornn e hundred and twenty pounds.

I most certainly received the Flour frocm them otherwi se
T sonld not send then a drart.

And the usual draft ou %edfrey.

Not the usual draft cn Fodfrev.

The same Xini of a draft you gave tc the Dutehman, Delong
No Ssir.

How did it difrer.

I do not remember how it was worded, it was drawn on ..
C.%edTrey & Co.

Whose draft was it, who was the maker.

AS T reinember it was a draft of 7, Maz I8 Mo . Zodfrey,
he is a broker with *.B8.™gllace &

I show vou a note of September 134 on FqodTrey & Co.,

draft was one hundred and twenty pounds,

A.  This is for one thousand dollars.
Q. That is by T.TRache, accepted by Fodfrey, is it.

A.7 Yes sir.

-

Q.” At whose request did Gedfrey accent that.

il
i Godfrev accepted that at my own rejuest, that is n

i
|
i
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i

A

I%th day of September.
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By the Court. Q. "hat was the date of the accentance, is there anv
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date on it, where was jodfrey when he accevted it.
He accepted that draft in New York 7ity be~ore ke went to
London.
On the 735th of Septenber,
No, beCTore he went o Yondon he accepted that draft and
left i4 with me in blank.
I understood he went to Yondon in August cu the steamshinp
Britannisz.
Yes sir, he accepted that draft befcre he went to Lond n
and left 1t in my possession.
Nid he come back azgain ron Londorn.
No sir, he did not;, on account o” the faet T was his
agent, 1 never signed Sodfrey’s pane in my 1lirfe.
You say he 1l&t on the 26th of August by the steamship
Britannia, you went down to see him or", that is right.
Yes sir, that is right.
And that draft is dated the 13th of September, 1IN0,
Yes sir, that is right.
And it is accepted on the same day, you suppose,
It was not accepnted by him on the Saine day, it was ac-
cepted by him before he went to London apnd left with me
i blank, he left this blank draft with me For one thous-
and dollars and T as his agent filled it up,

Q.: He was not here at the time it was accented,

As No sir, T do not suppogse he was.

'Hv T Dﬁrdy. Q. And the amounts irn blank.

A.; Yes sir, the amounts in blank.

Q| Bvervthing was all ready so that when you got a prospec-

tive customer for a draft you had his signature right
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there and all you had to do was to put in the amount and
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the date.

A T had his draft all there.

adel ST S

Mr Purdy: T o7fe¢r these three letters from the millings comnpany:

this slows ancther transaction.

TR ey

—

The Sourt: You have got the fact out that he had a tranSaction of

e AT D

‘a similar character with the Buffalo Milling Company.
Ey the Court. Q. Was this draft of a thousand dollars paid.
4, That 1 do net know anvthing about.
Q. Did not you have that draft 1in yocur possession at the ti
vou were arrested,
No sir,
You do notnhknow whether it was vaid or not.
I do not know anything atout that draft excepting what 1
have seen just now,
The draft in Tavor of the Burfalo Milling coempany,
that paid by Godfrey.
That T do not know anything about, 1 have not Seen any
draft,
Q. Dont you krniow that it was not.

A, No Sir, I do not.

By Mr Purdy. Q. You say, “please find enclosed draft-.

A.  That is not the draft you are showing me.

Q.. The draft of one hundred and twernty pounds for the flcur
to the Milling Company you say “enclosed please find

draft ", do yon krow whether that has ever beern vaid,

I den’t know anything about it.
Did ycu ever know God"rey & Co. to pay any draft for

flour.

I have not known him to pay a dralt because 1 was arrestd
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before any of these drafts came due excervt this first one

that was protested and this particular draft on wkich T

R

was arrested was the first draft that was prctested to mv
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knowledge that 1 knew anything about teing nrotested,
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What do you know atout Michkel £ ro. Paris, on which this
Vickery draftris drawn.
They are said to be importers and exporters.

Jourt. Q. Did veu ever have any correscondence with that
comMmnany.
None whatever, T do not know o° my own knowledge what
business thevy are in.
Or that such a firm ever existed.

I do know that such a firm Fras existed,
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Did you evor See any of then.

-

!
_t
!

L

S
£
f

T

No, but 1 have seen signs in New vork Tity where they
have been in business.

By Mr Purdy. Q. Don’t veu Xrow that the Prench firm of Miehel are
not here in New York.

No sir.

What do vou know about T.Bache's residence.

I have done atout forty thousard dollars of business with
him the last ten vears.

He kept a little hit of an office, didn’t he.

No, not sucha little 3it of an ocfice,

You took T.Eachke’s draft on Michel &Co. and gave i1t to

Vickery for the flour.

Yes sir, that is exactly what T did.

Then for the next load of flour what kind of a draft did

you send him,

I sent him one hundred and twenty-five pound draft on the
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same house,

They sent it back.

e ;-d,':i-,

That 1 do not know, they claim they did.

BT T T

Didn't you ever receive any letter abtout it.

PR e e

L R

No sir, 1 never received a letter atout that.

Ry the Court. Q. Did ycu ever receive a letter stating that
draft had not been paid,
A. No sir, 1 did not.

By Mr Purdy. Q. Are you sure that you have no letters,
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A. All 1T have got here are my two bank books, no letters;

Lere are somne letters, is that what you want, 1 do not

know what you are looking for.
They wrote to you that they would send you back their
draft.
They wrote to me that they wouldsend mme back a 4dr aft for
one hundred and twenty-five pounits on Godfrey & Co,
The second +“raft was on who.

sare house.

You suppose it was lost in the mail,
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I sunposed it had gone astray in the mails,

You never sent them any other draft,
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No sir.

You shipped the flour away.

Parties sued me for it.
And got Jjudsment against you, the judgment was declared
against you, do you think that draft was 1logst in the
nmail, ¥Mr “oster,

No Answer.

Q. That draft was not paid.

could not say, 1 do not know that it was not, 1
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have never sesn that draft since I sent it to them; they

wrote to me that they would ssnd it back to me thes sscond
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c¢raft, I did not gat it.
You w=re susd, w=re you.
I was sued for the particular invoice that that draft was

intended to cover and a Judgment was racovered against me.
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I have not paid that Judgmant yet.

How long ago is it since that judgment was recovared
against you.

That judpgment was recovered against me as I unde rstand it
in May or June, I have no data; my eivil attorn§s here
could give you the information. I have not paid that
Judgment yet but I secured 8 sixXxty day extension on i%
through the Stizriff, as I undarstand it.

Did ths Sheriff levy on anything.

No sir, he came to my place, I refsrred him to my attopr-

neys who said that they got sixty days extension to pay
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Q. the Sheriff had sixty days to return execution.
A, Yes sir, 1I understand it.

By Mr. Purdy. ¢. Wers yceu 2ver in Covington, Kentucky.
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A. No sir, never to my knowledge, I nsver was in Kentueky

that I know df.

——

T

These circulars in which you proposs to loan large sums
or money, on what kind of secubtities did you propose to
loan this money.

Coliateral securities, real estate, bonds and mortgages,
any kind of bonds that ware good, first class.

This transaction with Mr. Kountz in New York City, on what
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did yvyou l1loan him.

Q
I loaned him on his promisory note.

i
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You gave him that security for it.

(Showing paper.)

That is September I3, I886, in othar words, you had Mr

Kountz’s promissory notz payablz when.

It is payable Septembar 6,

SRl L N

dated Septasmber 2, 1886, I

have it in my hand, on2 thousand dollars, twelva months

after date, 1 promise to,pay to th»2 order of J.G.Foster,

one thousand dollars, payable at the banking house 42

Broadwaye.

And he paid ycu a commission.

parcent.

That note falls due bafore this draft.

That I could not say, this is dat=d 2nd cf September, IR86

You had the commission to begin with, you could collsct

the note if you had good luck and leave him this note of

Godfrey & Co. to collact.

It is not the way I did or it is not the way I intadnad

to do. If you will read that date you will see that

that draft is payable at my office twalve months after

By ) £ b B e
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date.
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Q. Was that the time to g=t th= money of Koutz when he is

CEr L h

~holding this worthless draft, is that the way you did

" bus inesse.

A.

That is not =2ht way I ever did business with anybody, I

2V a3r discount=d a note in my life yet: there is not hing

:crooked in that transaction whatever; thers is evidence

that there is a note for a thousand dollars there: thare




is a note that hs made payable to me. Here is neraly

thirty thousand dolla*s more.
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A. Not of Koutz’s but other reople all over the United
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States.
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Koutz lived in Clevsland, Ohio.
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Yes sir, Me

L0

- e

And hs s»nt you his note for a thousand dollars, twelve

months after date and he paid you a commission of fjve
paercent.

Yes sir, I gave him that draft on S.M.C.Godfrey and that
is payeble at 42 BEroadway.

That draft is datsd on the I3th of September, 1886,

That is it, exactly.

And it is made payable at your office twalve months aftesr

data.
Ya2s sir, at 42 Broadway.

Mr. Godfrey was not in the City of New York on the I3th of

September, I886.

No sir, I acceptad that as his agent.

T e,
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You accepted it and you fill=sd it up .

Iy s ey,
. e T e
e T L S

I filled it up, the amount, put the amount in t here and

the name, Chalres M.Koutz.

T

Did you fill every written word of itt.
No sir, here is what I filled, on2 thousand dollars, New
York City, September I3, 1886, twelve mont hs.

Q. Is not the whole of the body of that draft in your hand

writing.

1

A.H Yas sir, the main body of the draft is in my handwriting.

|
|
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Is it signed T.Bache.

T RITTIES

L

- © e e T

Do you know what h» gave for it or what he got for it.

0L held this not2 of a thousand dellars as his agent.

, .
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Then T.kache did not Ffill up this.

———

No sir.

.~

And he is the drawsr of this paper.

You h=2ld those in blanks for him.

R
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Not with his signatur2, I navar had his drafts in blank
with t he signatdre, Godfrey & Co. is tha only onz I had.
Will you te211 the jury how thz company was Godfrey’s.

Here is an affidavit that I receivad from I.ondon.

Will you tell me whan that draft became due according to

its tarms.

According to its terms it would fall due twelve months

after the I3th, which would make it about the I6th of
September, I887; it will be due next September, the same
as this note. In this affidavit is the name of the gen-
tlsman, the partner that you asked for of Mr Godf ray,
C.Rowan, City of London.

Did you ever see him at all.

No sir, that was his reputed partner.

Mr. Foster, this is your circular in which you say that

any one in good standing can obtain loans from you or

promissory notes, what was the security that you cave

&
v

promissory notes -~ what w2r2 you in the habit of giving
for men’s property and mortgages.

| Objected to.
1_5 .

Court. G. As a ganeral thing did you give drafts drawn on
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Godfrey & Co.

Objected to. Objeset ion ovarruled. Except ion.
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A. No sir, not generally, 1 was a gan2ral note broker, ex-

chang ing notes.
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by Mr Purdy. 0. How many not s, mortgages, whisk?y racaipts, etec.

do you suppos2 that you ioaned on in the last ysar to

ML Shis
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various peopla throughout the country.
Objected to. Obj=ction sustainad.

How many drafts have you drawn on Godfrey & Co. to p=a3ople

£ R,
; . g DR
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during the last year before your arrest, giva m2 a rough

—

astimate.

Pl P

I could not say, it micht have b=san five or six, it might
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hava bsen a dozen, I n=2ver knew ong to fall due bafore

,

. . X A
this one 1 was arrested on, it is not due until next Sep

/
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tember, there is only ons draft that is due and that 1s

R A
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the one that is prot=asted.

The one on Michel & Co., that was dues and was not paid.

4

I could not say.

How many drafts have you drawn on Michel & Co, in six

mont hs.

Objzcted to. Objection overrulad. LException.

I will Jjust s=22.
Never mind the datails, get at it as n=ar as you call.

I am not going to tell you a lie, 1 have a memorandum

here, if I can’t refar to it, I will not answer the quas-

tion.

How many drafts of Michel & Co. passed through your hands

for six monthse.

Nineteen or twenty, I should saye.
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By the Court. Q. Do you know if any one of the nineteen or twanty

hav= ever been paid.
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A. Yes sir, thera is one thers that Mr Hughes has.

By Mr Purdy. Q. Who was it paid to.

A. It was paid to the man that had it, let me have t he

and I will tell you som=thing about it.
By th= Court. Q. Do you know it was Michel & Co? paid it.

A. I do not know anything about it whethar Michel & Co. paid
it, I know it had my =2ndors- ment on, I have a mamorandum
hare of othsr people that I have paid.

By Mr. Purdy. Q. With rsgard to the draft for the second lot of

flour to Vickery & Co. do you say that Yyou Bpever receivad

back that draft on Michel & Co.

Objsctsd to. Objeetion overruled. Except ion.

I never receivad the draft, no sir.

I will rsad you this lstter which is iy evidenca2, dated
April 19, I8836. That is so, isn’t it.

That rafers to the s=cond exchange of the first draft.

Whare did you find out that Vickery & Co. wanted the

::":' *
b
i
ke
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RN

Second sxchange of the first draft, did you

vt

get a lattep

from them asking about it.

TN T e
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If you will show me tha letters, I will show you where

they asksad me for it. Here is a letter dated the 29th of

March.

N r———— . e .
T —————

By the Court. Q. A letter from Michel & Co.

W TR

A. A letter from them to me.

By MraPurdy. Q. Then on April IS, you wrote, is that letter of

- April I9 a reply to March 29.
{

1
It
A.j" Yes sir, that is my answer to that
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They say in the very letter that they asked you for the

sacond exchange of the first draft that they also enclosed

you the draft.

I nevar receivad any such letter.

That was the second bill of exchange.

=

—

That was the second that draft, thes duplicate of the first

draft they asked for in that letter of March 29; I answer-

ed that in that letter, he did not put it there.

April 19.

e ;‘;.'.l

Yss sir, I do not know what the date of that was, the

T :
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sscond is ths duplicate.

By the Court. Q. When you make a draft of that sort you draw it in

P e ey

three parts.

Somet imes in two and somet imes in three, I could not say

how this was drawn,

whether it was second or third, I know

that there was at l2ast a second and pz2rhaps a third.

On= draft you claim you delivered to Vickery & Co., 1s

that right.

-
+
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Yes sir, that was the first sxchange, the s2cond exchange

R

I never had.

Did you have a duplicate of it.

ras X I
PR SN

T did not, I never did have it, I did not know the numbey

of th2 original to ask for it.

by Mr Purdy. Q. You did ask them for the number of the original.

A. I asked them to give me a memorandum of the draft for I

lost it.

Was that the gentleman that came to you about this draft.

of Deliong & Co. (Pointing to Mr Farrell.)

Yes sir, that is the gentleman who called to s2e ma.
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Do you say that you told this gentleman that Mr Godfrey
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was hers in town and he could see ﬁim, t he maker of that
draft on that occasion.

Y2s sir, on that occasion I told tros=2 two gentleman that
came in together that Godfray was in the c¢ity and they
could se2 him.

You do not recognize the taller gentlzaman.

I could not swear to the man’s identity.

Do you swear that this gentleman did not tell you that

- e b
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Bugene Kelly & Co. cabled —---~

-

I hava nevsr sworn to that, I do not swear to that now,

T T v,

swear that I had no recollection of his saying any such

LY '-.““-l‘_"'-.:‘: Pl P e,

words; w2 w=are both of us excited when he came in.
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Q . Did not these gentlemen who came to inquire about the
;;draft, after you told them that it was all right and the
draft would be paid say they cabled to London and therse
was no such firmm as that, do you think you could recollact
that.
I do not rsmemb2r the words of the conversation, I do not
. know of my owr knowledge.
What was ths name of the officer that was there, that you
told th2s2 gentlemen, according to your statemsnt, you
had thers ready to put psople out.
A. William Guerney.
the Court. @. A police officer.
A. He was a deputy sherifrf.
Q. What were you doing with a deputy sheriff in your place,
gHe wastherz to taks care of my office in my absence, to
Wsee that my clerks attended to their business and to see

people.
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You had an officer of the law to look after your ordinary

merchantils business.

Pt Ll | m’w‘m

Not because ha was an officer of the law, hes came to me

¢
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for employment, I wanted a man to take charge of my of-
fice, to se=s p=oplse.
By Mr Purdy. Q. Wharas is Guernsy now.
A. He 1s in the c¢ity I understand.
Q. Isn’t it a fact that Gu2rney was thare for ths purpose

of bouncing men who had b:2n robbed by you when they came

to collect their debts.

No sir, it was not, he n=sver had occasion to bounce any-
body.

On this oc¢casion you told the gantleman —--r

I told thas=2 eantlz2men that I did not want to be insultad
in my office, I told them I had a deputy sheriff thare.
For what purpose did you tell them that, for the purpose
of intimidating them.

No sir, I told thaem that bscauses Mr Farr=ll told me he had
an offie=2r with him.

Did he tell you that first.

I eould not say whethar he told me that first, w= might

R R s R R o P PR

e

have both spok=2n at the same time, I would not want to
swear which said it first, as I remember it, Farrell said
he had an officer with him.

Q. You stated you had thirty thousand dollars of notes.

A. Nearly thirty.

Q. What sacurity did you give for the thirty thousand dollars.

Object 2d to. Objection sustained.

Are thos=2 thirty thousand secured by drafts on Godfrsy,

Michel & Co. and those housese.
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No sir.

Is any portion of themsecurad by drafts on Godfrey & Co.
those notes that you have got there.

I eould not say.

You said you had besn arrested six times, how many t imes
have you been convicted for offences against the law.

A. How many times have I been convieted?

Ey the Court. Q. Were you ever convictad of a cfiminal offanca.

Ao I was convicted for angraving a label and fined twenty-

five dollars for it.

By Mr. Purdy. Q. What was the charge in the indictment, forgesry.
A. I could not say.
Q. Did you plsad guilty or ware ycu tried bafore a SELER

A. As 1 remember it I was tried before a jury but I could

L

not saye.
By the Court. Q. You know what convicted means, a conviet ion means
a convietion in a criminal case.
Yes sir.
Were vou indicted for forging that labsal..
I could not say that I was indicted for forging it, I wes
tried for engraving that label, that is, a copy of it. I
was triad in the court at Chicago before Judge Gerry, I
think it was the United States Court, it might have been
Ethe County Court.
Wasn’t it the Unitsd States Circuit Distriet Cour t that
yYyou wars trisd before, I
I could not say your Honor, I m=2an to say 1 do not know
jwhat particular court.

You wera a resident of Chicago.
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I was a boy twenty yzars of agee.
Will you tell us what court you ware tried in.

I could not say to s%é my life, I could not say whaether

e m gt L T .
R Loy AL 7 ’
AR S

it was the United States District Court, I was [ined
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twenty-five dollars for angraving that label.

Q. Wer= you tried b=fore a jury.

L T Bolades Ll o TR OO

A. I could not say.

I N
- o emore= e L=

By Mr. Purdy. Q. Was th2re a District Attorney.

- m——— ..-v_-‘.‘_‘.,:_w._r.._.._‘..._ o

A. Yes, thers must have b2en.
Did you have counsel.
Yes sir, I had Mitchell & Humphrey.
Did you go on the stand.
I went on the stand and explained the whols case to t he
Judge and showesd him this label.
The naxt time, what were ycu convietezc¢ of, writing
ters I think you said yast 2rday, for some man.

A. The s=cond time I was convicted —----—

Qy t hse Court. Q. Wherz was it, tc comm=2nce withe.

A. It was in th2 Unitad Statss Court if I ra=member rightly,
baerore Judgs Blodgett and Bangs.
You ware convicted there for what.
For writing a letter for anothsr party, as I said yeoster-
day.
Did you =2v=ar know it was a cerime toO write a lattar for
anot her party.

No sir.

Don’t you know it is not a crime to write a latter for:

another man, you could not be convicted of writing a

letter, tell this jury what you w=2re tried and convicted

for.




Thares was a party came to my office and requested ms to
write a 1lattar for him, he was going to carry on business
in my name; he said G.W.Fostar, hs dictated the lettar

and 1 made a copy of it; his nam2 was Booles and I wrote

| : B e Lot 2
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it and th2 other l2tt2rs like the ons that he gave me and

mailad them. The lettars werz afterwards s2nt back to

A g

the Post Office department and thav warz produced in Court
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bafore the Commission=r, but th=2r2 was no monsy in the

e
oy T -

transaction, no monsy r=aceivad or anything of that kind.
By thes Court. Q. You havs not begun to tell this Jury yet what you
were triad for.

A, I do not know what ths charge was against me, I wasbe-
twez2n twenty and twenty-on= y=ars old, if I ra2m=smbar
rightly.

You war=2 not indict=d For forging anybody’s name.
No sir.
You wars tried before Judge blogett and a Jury and th-re

was a District Attornz2y there and you had eounsel.

Y.

No sir, I had no counsel at all, I nevsr was tri=d aft 2y~
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wards, I plz2aded guilty the next day to writing a letter.
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Q. You were fined Fifty dollars by Judge Blodgett.

5 .
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A. Yes sir, 1 was navar asked to pay the fine.
By Mr P@rdy. Q. Wers not you indicted for using the mail in send-
| ing circulars through the mail for the purpose of swind-
ling people.
A. I was not indicted, I was not trisd, I went to ths Judge
thea next day and explained it to him, that was all thare
was to it, I plsaded guilty to the Judge.

Was thers not an indictment.

iy —— ——
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Not:'to my knowladgs, no sir, thare was not anything but
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th2 charge thsre, I nevar saw tha charge and nevar read

1t.
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Hava ycu =2var read these indiectments that are against you.

T
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Lo

I never saw tha:ss indictmants or rzad tham, I know the

Y

charge against me is for grand larceny in the second de-
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gree, as I understand it.
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Cannot vou tell us what that charge in Chicago was against

you, by r=freshing your memory, was it for devositing

circulars in the Unitzad Statasg mails.

No sirj'itwwas not for circulars, it was simply for a faw

l=2tters.

By Mr. Hughes. Q. I want you to explain one thing to the judge tMat

was in evid=encs yestarday, that is, the Kouhtz transac-

tion, th2 note bore date Ceptamber 2, I think itnwas and

the draft on the I3th.

Yas sipr.

One thousand dollars signad by T.tach=2, ths note is mads

payable at your office, is it and is the draft made pay-

able2 ther= also.

Y2s sir, 42 Broadway, New York.

‘When tho ie papers wers dated did you have anything to do

with arranging ths dates.

Yas sir.
Explain to the Jury why the note was mads payabl=2 bafgre

the draft and for what purpose.

The not= was sent to the maker at lsast to the Signer of

~th2 note, on or about the 2nd of September, that is why

it was dated bacauss I wrote the notae myself all excepting
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his signature, I filled out tha note and sent it Ffor his

signaturs, that is why it is dated on that particular day.

When it was rsturned to me signed and I s=ant the draft in

exchange for it, it was the I3th, I must havs written to

him on the 1I2th or I3th, that accounts for tre difference

in tha dates.

the Court. Q. So that th2 note became dus soma2 days before the

draft was payabl-=z.

A, Yes sir.

Mr Hughes. Q. You have other transactions of that kind, have you
not, of a similar nature.

A. Yoo sir.

the Court. Q. When th2 note and the draft wars datad differant

t im&S .

A. The sam= day and sometimes a different date.

Mr. Hughes. Q. State whether you hava =zver partad with a note

that you received in sxchanges for a draft that vou gavea.

I have, when it was cancellasd and paid.

!

-

I mean where a draft is still; out unpaid, whether vyou hava

+

aver hald & note which was secured for the good faith of

a paym2nt of the draft, have you ever parted with it.

No sir, I nev=r have.

' Then in every instance where you have a draft out which

is made payable at your office, you hold t he note, is

that oe® correct.

A. Ye2s sir, 1 do.

By the Court. OG. Where did you get tha money to carry on this

expensive business if you did not get money cn the note

- that thsy might take, and thare was no mon=zy received
i
i

upon tha drafte.
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I will explain that.

Did not this man who gave you ths note want to borrow a

thouéand dollars, is not that what he @gavs that note for.

Yes sir, h2 gava that note for this draft, he wrote for

this draft to me.

Tt A ' Y T O A R GT
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He wantad a loan, didn’t he.

Yes sir.,

Dc you mzan to say that you held the note.

R A ta it Tash ot LA L R

bvery note that I =sver recsived 1 have possession of, I
navar sold one of them, naver parted with one of them.

| Bache
What consideration did you givehﬁd&% for this draft,
where did Hache gqt any money, did h2 get any fram Y ou.

Y=2s sir.

How much, ona thousand dollars.

Okno, he got a portion o# ths commission on this particu-

lar transaction, I could not say =2xadetly how much it was,

it might hav= been one percent.
Q. Was a dollar of consideration avery given to anybody for

that draft of Mr Baéhe.

This is the considaration given for the draft.

B -
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That I understand, but what did R acha give thesz people

upon whom this draft is drawn, did defrey hold any money

. Py LRI
e T

bags that he had a right to draw upon him.

I could not say, I do not know what arrangemént they had.
By Mr Hughes. Q. You testified yesterday tlat you held mortgages

that had b=2en obtainad in th» same way.

Yes sir, not exactly the same way.

In th2se brokerage transactions for whiech you furnished

them paper and was working for a2 commission.

No sir.
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 I understood you so.
I have received a numbar of mortgages from people in dif-
f2rent parts of the country to negotiate. i was working
fr a commission.
You said ysgsterday that thers were a numbar of those
mort gages inyour possession.

Yes sire.

I want you to tell ths jury whether you have aver partad
with one of thos2 mortgages that wera in youf possession
for the purpose of security for a loan that had bsen made
to them.

I have never parted with one of those mortgages excepting

to the rightful owner.

By the Court. Q. Did you rais=a any money upon those mortgages.

I have raised some monay.

On this large pile that you have got, have you raised
money .

No sir, I was arrestsd about the time I reca2ivad them, T
had some of tham three months.

You did not.have time to negotiate any of the mortgages.
No szr.

The fact of the matter was people s2nt yYyou mortgages to
negotiate and to get money for them,

Yes sir, exactly.

Didyou negot iate any of them.

No sir, not these that I hava in my possession, I nego=-

tiated some city chattel mortgages.

"We are talking abcut the mortgages you had yvesterday, you

said you had & large number of mortgages, you have not

negotiated any of them.
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No sir.

The p=ople who sent you the mortgages have got nothing for

theme.

/

All that made applicetion for them havs received them back

cancelled and catisfied.

Have they received anything from youv, for the nortgages

whiech you hold for negotiation.

those that I hold now, I have

- L Tty B I L) e, - .
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Not at the prasent time,

LR A

some that I hava2 held ovar a year as an agent.

by Mr Hughes. ¢. Those mortgages that you hold were given you for

the purpose of raising a loan for the party who sent them

to you.

Yes sir.
You have nevar for your own benefit or the benefit of
anybody elss excepting ths party who sent them to you,

raisad a dollar upon thos=2 mortgages, have you.

No sir, I hevsr havs.

They are now subjsct to the order or ths owners, those

who have not been negotiat ing.

cthat has not b22en cancelled.
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A. ; 2avary one

2y

Q. Are all those mortgages ex=a2cuted in blank.

SR Tarirey
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By the Court.

-r"

A. No sir, I have one here, they are made out in my name.

caf M

Q. Is that it, th2 mortgages ars all made to you.

A. All madz to me personally, so that 1 could take them, sell

hhem and negot iate them. Thase ar2 insur ance policies.

Mr Purdy. Q. I see you sign the name Fostzr & Co., who is the

company.
A. At present I have no partner.
Did you have at this time when you were signing your name

as Foster & Co., what was the nams of that company.

;
|
|
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Objected to. Objsction ovzarrulazd. Except ion.

Mr. Wast was my partner at the time I signed the firm nams
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Fost=2r & Co.
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By the Court. Q. What is t he name

of that ¢l=ark of yours.
A. Mr Otis.
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Ly Mr Purdy. Q. How long were you

in partnership with Mr West.

A. A few months.
Q. Where is Mr West now.

A. I could not say.

Q. When did you last sze West,

A. When I bought him out last spring, it was somewhere n=zar

the fFfirst of May.

William H. Farrell recalled by Mr Purdy.

How long have you been a member of the firm of Bugene

Kelly & Co.

Since 1I8834.
And bafore that what business were you in.

I have been employed with them for over twenty-two,

nearly twenty-three years.

You have been for nearlg'twenty-three vears thare,

Yes sir.

Do you recollect this draft being sent to England.
I do.

Did you know at the time or believe that ths draft was

not good.

I bzliaved at the time that the draft was not good.

Why did you sent it to Emgland.

For ths purpose of getting a certificate to that effect.
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Under whos~ instiruct ions ware you acting.'
The District Attorney.
You recollzact I suppose the day that you went to see
ffoster. A. T do.
Did he say to yocu in the course of that conv-zarsation that
Godfrey, the makasr of this draft, was ha2re in N2w York
and that you could se2 him any t ime you desired on ap-
pointment.
He did not.
Did hs m=2nt ion anything about Godfrey’s being in New York
or anything like it in your presence.
No sir, not to ms.
Did you state to him that you had telegraph=d to London
and had ascertained that thers was no such firm as Godfrey
& Co.
A. I did sir, 1 t0old him so in Mr. Taylor’s presence.
Q. Did you tell him you had an officer with you.
A I did not.
By the Court. Q. You told him you went there with the draft in
your hand, show2d him the draft I suppose and he saw the
draft.
Yes sir, and I asked for paym=2nt of it; he saidt o me,
“send that draft to thes proper place in Londcn and it
will be paid.” I told him then we had telegraphed to
London and received an answer that there was no such firm
there.
You have é& a correspondent irn London of e¢oursee.
Yes sir.
You telegraphed and there was an answer receivéd.

The answer was, “Firm quite unknown”, is the exact wo rds.
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Purdy. Q. Did you inform him of that fact.

A. I immediately informed him of that fact.
5y the Court. Q. What reply did he make.
A. He became indignant and said I had insulted him and
threatened an officer.

He did not pay the draft.
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No, he did not pay the draft vyet.
Did he tell you at that time that Godf rey was in New York
and he could be se=2n at any t ims he was wanted.
A. No sir.
By Mr Purdy. Q. Had you as mattsr of fact, cabled to London aboyut
this draft. |

A 2S5 Ssir.
By Mr Hughes. Q. Examine that draft carefully on its face and o n
the back, is thars anyt hing on that draft that would in-

dicate to you, as a banker, that Mr Foster was the man to
pay that draft.

No.

B e A .
e ey ® WP T . AT
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About what date was this that you went to Fostar’s office.

On the I4th day or August, I&86.

At the time that you went to Foster’s office, how long

e 7 e L A Tyl T
o Loow oy - L

had this draft been in your possession for collaect ion.

s
e SR

It had been not many days I think, I cannot tell exactly
when, it is dated the IIth, it was on the I4th.

Was 1t only two or three day s.

I cannot tell you, I do not know.

This draft had bsen in your possession three days,

; You state to the jury why it was it did not follow
|

usual custom.
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A., Yes sir, becausz w2 were invastigating Mr Foster mean-

while, his busin=2ss transactions.

At the same time you were doing a banking business, were

Yyou not.

PR e .,

Yes sir.
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And whan this party gave this draft into your hands fop
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collection as a banker, did you consider that it would

aid your investigation of Fostar to withhold that draft

e A, AT
[ =

from collaction in the usual way.

A.

After explanation from DelLong I did not suppose it made

any differencsz whethar it r2mainsd a wesk or ten days.

By the Court. Q. I suppose you asked Mr Delong how did he get this

draft, under what circumstances it was given him.

Yas sir, that is correct.

And then you went to work to invastigate Mr Fostor, the
person from whom you got ths draft.

Yas sir, precisely.

And the result of the conversation satisfi=2d you that it

did not matter whether you sent the draft three days or

three wseks aft2rwards and thoss ware your reasons for
not sending the draft on.

A, Yes sir.

by Mr. hughess. Q. Will you state to the Jury the conversat jon which

took place betw2en you and delLong at th2 t ime this draft

wvas given you.

A, I heard Mr Delong’s statement and as s business man down

~town for twenty odd years, drew my own conelusions.

Q. Can’t you give us any one word of that conversation.
A. INo sir, I cannot' remembsr anything of it, it ocecurred

106, |
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last summer, I havz forgotten all about it.

By the Court. Q@ 0o you recollect that he stated to you from whom
he got it and how he got it, what property he parted with.
Yes sir, for a carload of flour that he had sent him, and
ha cam2 to New York and got the draft, if I remember cor-

rectly, I am not sure about the bank, and he stated the

Py e e
B R S o 1
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convarsation that h2 had with Mr Foster. I have for-

gotten, in fact, I did not charg=2 my mind with it at the

—— gy e
l.. Cilee e

i

t ime, he stated that there was a conversation beatween
them and I think aftz2r that case he went to his unele and

his uncle brought him to me and we then triad to collact

- T e L et g e = T LATTNEA TR

tha draft from Mr. Foster, as I have already stated.

By Mr Hughes. @ That is all the convarsation that you recollect.

A. I do not remember anything mors, as I say, I did not Ccharg

my mind with it.
Did Mr. DelLong say to you that he did not think that draft
was good.
No, I told him sc¢, I think.
How did you come to tell him that, inresponss to what.

After invastigation, Mr Taylor probably can =2nlighten you

B
+
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mors on that subjset than I.
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By the Court. Q. You had a conversation didn’t You, with Delong.

T

g g e

A. I did, yas sir.

e e —"T

Qe You ascertainsd from DeLonyg, as I understood you to say,
how he got this draft, the circumstances under whic hnhe

got it and the person from whom he got it.
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You got some knowledge of business.
Yes sir, in the manners and forms of business.

You have considerabla knowledgs about persons drawing

drafts in the city of New York, upon banking houses and

merchants in London.

A Y g

A,

P 8 L
ot

Q. DLoes notthat form a very large part of your business.

L]

A. Not a very large part, sone.

Q. You did not know Foster & Co. nor Godfrey & Co.

A, No sir.

.
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By Mr Hugh=s. Q. From your vast knowledge and exparience, did you

think that Mr Foster was the Prop=2r person to colleect

that drat't from at that t ime.

In as much as it had been received through him, T thought

I would try to colleet fit from him.
By ths Court. @. Has he got thes flour.
A. Yes sir, he has g ct the flour.

By Mr. Hughes. Q. With your vast experience and knowl edge in banke

ing matters, did you think to take the draft to Mr Fostar

for collection without having attemptes to colleect it

through the regular transaction of banking business was

t he Proper thing.

A, I have alrsady answered that guestion.

Th» Court: You nsed not g0 into t hat,

Mr. Hughss: I will 8xcept to that. Your Honor brought out that
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“he had vast knowledge in the banking bus iness

ﬁHave you got ths t=2legram or a copy of it, that you have

:tnstlfzed You sant to l.ondon.

Aierak-t 4]
AT =

WYes sir, I hava a copy of it, part of it is in ¢ipher,

however, I cannot decipher it. Shall I read it?
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By the Court. Q. Yes sir.

A. ' The translation is, “Consolidated Bank, limited, London.

Please inquire if draft on Godfrey & Co. 66 Queen Victo-

. L]
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ria Street for one hundred pounds is good. Answer imme -

diataly giving the particulars.”
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What is ths date of that.

Frorra. :""‘,7"':'_":?_04- ———

That was on the I3th of August, lest year.

Frate ey

s

Have you got tha answer to that.

[EP——

The answer that we received on the morning of the I4th’

o amreeia

PR a3 ":-:;-‘ﬁfv‘f - e

L] L] "
was; *Firm quite unknown.

Mr. Hughes: I move again ror ths purpose of getting it on the rac-

ord, to strike out all the testimony of Mr Vickery, as
regards the transaction with him and all the evidencse
baaring on that transaction undar the decision in the cese
-of Hogan against the people in the State of NaﬁlYork.

That motion is to embrace all the t2stimony not directly

connacted with this case.
The Court: Mo tion denied.

Counsel: Note an exception.

Counsel summed up and the Recorder chargsd the Jjury.

The Jury rendersd a verdict of guilty ofgrandg

larceny in the first degree.
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